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PART 1

ITEM 1 - BUSINESS

We are a leading manufacturer of water heatersdailers, serving a diverse mix of residential anchmercial end markets principally in the
United States (U.S.) with a strong and growingrimi¢ional presence. Our company is comprised ofreporting segments: North America
Rest of World. Our Rest of World segment is prityacomprised of China, Europe and India. Both segt:menanufacture and market
comprehensive lines of residential gas, gas taslded electric water heaters and commercial watatirig equipment. Both segments
primarily serve their respective regions of the oThe North America segment also manufacturesnaaidkets specialty commercial water
heating equipment, condensing and non-condensiiigy®and water systems tanks. The Rest of Woidnsat also manufactures and market:
water treatment products, primarily for Asia.

On August 22, 2011, we sold our Electrical Prodbetsiness (EPC) to Regal Beloit Corporation (RB&)dpproximately $760 million in cash
and approximately 2.83 million shares of RBC comratmtk valued at $140.6 million as of that datee buthe sale, EPC has been reflecte
a discontinued operation in the accompanying fir@rstatements for all periods presented. For &rrthformation about EPC, see Note 2 tc
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table summarizes our sales from aaritig operations. This summary and all other infation presented in this section should
be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Fina8tatements and Notes to Consolidated Fina&takements, which appear in Item 8 in
this document.

Years Ended December 31 (dollars in millions

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
North America $1,520.C $1,430.&6 $1,289.! $1,155.. $1,135.¢
Rest of World 668.( 542t 455.¢ 368.¢ 256.5
Inter -segment (34.2) (34.0 (34.6) (35.0 (17.9)
Total Sales $2,153.¢ $1,939.0  $1,710.! $1,489.0 $1,375.(

NORTH AMERICA

In our North America segment, sales increased é&:.2emt or $89.2 million in 2013 compared with thi@pyear. Higher volumes of U.S.
residential and commercial water heaters and lsifgrtially offset by lower volumes of Canadiartevdeaters are the primary reasons for al
increase in sales compared with the prior year.l®@ghinvar brand, which we acquired in August 20h&rementally added $142.9 million to
sales in 2012 compared to 2011. Approximately 48eye of Lochinvamranded sales consist of residential and commexscitdr heaters whi
the remaining 60 percent of Lochinvar-branded sadesist primarily of boilers and related parts.

We serve residential and commercial end markeuoith America with a broad range of products inatgd

Gas, gas tankless, and electric water heatésir residential and commercial water heaters damns&es ranging from 2.5 gallon (point-a$e)
models to 12,500 gallon appliances with varyingcefhcy ranges. We offer electric, natural gas lé&qudd propane models as well as gas
tankless and solar tank units for energy efficlesrnes. Our North American residential water hesadgs in 2013 were approximately $950
million or 63 percent of North America revenuespibal applications for our water heaters includgdences, restaurants, hotels and motels,
laundries, car washes and small businesses.

Boilers.Our residential and commercial boilers range ie §imm 40,000 British Thermal Units (BTUs) to 5.@limn BTUs. Our commercial
boilers are used primarily in space heating apfiioa including hospitals, schools, hotels and olluige commercial buildings.

Other.Our North America segment also manufactures expartanks, commercial solar water heating systemispisiing pool and spa
heaters, and related products and parts.

A significant portion of the segment’s businesdasived from the replacement of existing produats] we believe that since 2008, the sale of
products to the North America residential new hogsionstruction market has represented less timgoeteent of our North America
residential water heater sales.

We are the largest manufacturer and marketer cfnetaters in North America, and we have a leaslirage in both the residential and
commercial markets. In the commercial market, webe our comprehensive product line including ebland our high-efficiency products
give us a competitive advantage in this portiothefwater heating industry. Our wholesale distidruthannel includes more than 1,200
independent wholesale plumbing distributors withrenitvan 4,400 selling
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locations serving residential and commercial endketa. We also sell our residential water heatansuigh the retail channel. In this channel,
our customers include five of the seven largesbnat hardware and home center chains, including4standing exclusive branding
relationships with both Lowe’s and Sears. Our lralistribution channel is primarily comprised of mdacturer representative firms.

We acquired Lochinvar in 2011 for approximately $48illion including an earn-out provision that riéed in a payment of $13.5 million in
December 2012. Our Lochinvar brand is one of thdiley brands of residential and commercial boiletse U.S.

Our energy efficient product offerings continuébta sales driver of our business. Our Cycloneumroi@mily and our commercial boilers
continue to be an option for commercial customeogihg for high efficiency water and space heatiiiy a short payback period through
energy savings. We offer residential heat pumpsatar water heaters in North America, as well &gohigher efficiency water heating
solutions to round out our energy efficient prodoiterings.

We sell our water heating products in highly contjppet markets. We compete in each of our targetacket segments based on product de
quality of products and services, performance arw pOur principal water heating and boiler conitpes in North America include Rheem,
Bradford White, Rinnai, Navien, Aerco and Cleaveodks. Numerous other manufacturing companiesaistpete.

REST OF WORLD

Sales in our Rest of World segment increased 28dept, or $125.5 million, in 2013 compared with grior year. A 26.1 percent increase in
sales of A. O. Smith branded products in China5@552 million was the primary source of the inceegssales.

We have operated in China for almost 20 yearshahtime, we have been aggressively expanding msepce while building A. O. Smith
brand recognition in the Chinese residential androercial markets. The Chinese market is predomiynanmprised of electric wall-hung,
solar and gas tankless water heaters. We believaravene of the leading suppliers of water hedtetise residential market in China, with a
broad product offering including electric, gas, takless, heat pump and solar units. We also naatwre and market water treatment prod
primarily in the residential market.

We sell water heaters in more than 5,900 retalbtaiin China, of which over 1,200 exclusively smif products. In addition, our water
treatment products are sold in 2,900 retail ouifetShina.

In 2008, we established a sales office in Indialaegan importing products specifically designedifalia from our Nanjing, China facility. W
began manufacturing water heaters in India in g@®sd quarter of 2010. Our sales in India were3gtllion in 2013, essentially the same as
in 2012.

Our primary competitor in China is Haier AppliancaChinese company, but we also compete with Midéae electric water heater market
and Rinnai and Noritz in the gas tankless and swdder heater markets. Additionally, we competdhwiimerous other Chinese private and
state-owned water heater and water treatment caegpanChina. In India, we compete with Bajaj, MRacold, Venus and numerous other
companies.

In addition, we sell water heaters to the EuromaahMiddle Eastern markets and water treatmentymtsdn Turkey, all of which comprised
approximately eight percent of total Rest of Waddes.

RAW MATERIAL

Raw materials for our manufacturing operationangrily consisting of steel, are generally availahladequate quantities. A portion of our
customers are contractually obligated to accepeprhanges based on fluctuations in steel pridesreThas been significant volatility in steel
costs over the last several years.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

To improve competitiveness by generating new prtxacd processes, we conduct research and develbptreur Corporate Technology
Center in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, at our Global Emgiring Center in Nanjing, China, and at our opegalibcations. Total expenditures for
research and development in 2013, 2012 and 2014 $&#.8 million, $51.7 million and $42.7 milliorespectively.
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PATENTS AND TRADEMARKS

We own and use in our businesses various tradenteaki®e names, patents, trade secrets and licagedo not believe that our business as a
whole is materially dependent upon any such tradenticde name, patent, trade secret or licenswieider, our trade name is important with
respect to our products, particularly in China,idgnahd the U.S.

EMPLOYEES
Our operations employed approximately 11,400 emg#eyas of December 31, 2013, primarily non-union.

BACKLOG

Due to the short-cycle nature of our businessasg b our operations sustain significant backlogs.

ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS

Our operations are governed by a variety of fedévatign, state and local laws intended to pratleetenvironment. Compliance with
environmental laws has not had and is not expdctédve a material effect upon the capital expemne#t, earnings, or competitive position of
our company. See Item 3.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We maintain a website with the address www.aosogth. The information contained on our website isinduded as a part of, or
incorporated by reference into, this Annual ReparForm 10-K. Other than an investor’s own intelametess charges, we make available free
of charge through our website our Annual ReporForm 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curmemiorts on Form 8-K and amendments
to these reports as soon as reasonably practiealved have electronically filed such material with furnished such material to, the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC).

The company is committed to sound corporate govexmand has documented its corporate governanctgasby adopting the A. O. Smith
Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Corporate fBanee Guidelines, Criteria for Selection of Digest Financial Code of Ethics, the

A. O. Smith Guiding Principles, as well as the ¢har for the Audit, Personnel and Compensation, iNating and Governance and the
Investment Policy Committees of the Board of Dioestand other corporate governance materials, mayewed on the company’s website.
Any waiver of or amendments to the Financial Col€anduct or the A. O. Smith Guiding Principlesca¥gould be posted on this website; to
date there have been none. Copies of these docsiméhbe sent to stockholders free of charge wpdtten request of the corporate secretary
at the address shown on the cover page of this &riReport on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1A —RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risk factorsfeeth below and all other information containedhis Annual Report on Form 1K;including
the documents incorporated by reference, beforengain investment decision regarding our commaoaokstth any of the events contemplated
by the following risks actually occurs, then oustmess, financial condition, or results of opemagicould be materially adversely affected. /
result, the trading price of our common stock calédline, and you may lose all or part of your stweent. The risks and uncertainties below
are not the only risks facing our company.

* The effects of the global economic downturn coaleela material adverse effect on our busir

The global economy is still showing signs of stressl could stall or reverse the course of anyvego If this were to occur it could adversely
affect consumer confidence and spending pattermshvdould result in decreased demand for the prisdue sell, a delay in purchases,
increased price competition, or slower adoptiorrdrgy efficient water heaters and boilers whialldmegatively impact our profitability and
cash flows. In addition, a deterioration in curreabnomic conditions, including credit market caiadis, could negatively impact our vendors
and customers, which could result in an increasmthdebt expense, customer and vendor bankrupitiesuption or delay in supply of
materials, or increased material prices, which @mggatively impact our ability to distribute, marland sell our products and our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

» A portion of our business could be affected byoaglg Chinese econon

Our sales growth in China has averaged approxigatepercent per year over the past five yearsmmdnticipate sales growing
approximately two times the rate of China’s grosmdstic product growth in 2014. In 2013, we opeasdcond manufacturing facility that
will expand our manufacturing capacity by 50 petagen fully utilized. If the Chinese economy wépeexperience a significant slowdown or
urbanization was to stall, it could adversely affmaer financial condition, results of operationslaash flows.

» Failure to achieve one or more of our 2015 aspoas could negatively impact invest' interest in our common sto

We introduced our 2015 financial aspirations ie 2012 and updated them in 2013 and 2014. We fahspecific growth expectations for
our A. O. Smith branded products in China, our WeSidential and commercial water heaters, our lmv@lr-branded products, our water
treatment products and our products sold in Indla.identified earnings before interest and tax@dTEmargin aspirations for our North
America and Rest of World segments. Failure toifaioly grow as expected could negatively impactahifity to achieve these aspirations.
Failure to achieve one or more of these growthraspns could adversely affect the trading pricewf common stock.

« A material loss, cancellation, reduction, or delaypurchases by one or more of our largest custenseuld harm our busine:

Net sales to our five largest customers represeaypdoximately 38 percent of our 2013 net saleseWyect that customer concentration \
continue for the foreseeable future. Our dependencgales from a relatively small number of custeameakes our relationship with each of
these customers important to our business. We tassare that we will be able to retain our largestomers. Some of our customers may in
the future shift their purchases of products toa@mpetitors. The loss of one or more of our largastomers, any material reduction or delay
in sales to these customers, our inability to sssftdly develop relationships with additional cusgys, or our inability to execute on pricing
actions could have a material adverse effect orfinancial position, results of operations and cieis.

» A portion of our business could be adversely agfiétty a decline in new commercial construc

The recovery in commercial construction activityNarth America is fragile and commercial constratcould decline again after showing
improvements in 2013. Though we believe that thgriga of the commercial business we serve is &placement of existing products,
changes in the commercial construction market catikett us.



*  Our Lochinva-branded sale’ growth could stall resulting in lower than expectades and earninc

The compound annual growth rate of Lochinvar-bramgeenues has been over ten percent per yearaim@equisition of Lochinvar, largely
due to the transition in the boiler industry in thes. from lower efficiency, non-condensing boilaysigher efficiency, condensing boilers and
our Lochinvar brand is a leader in residential amchmercial condensing boilers. In 2003, approxitydtee percent of the boilers sold in the
U.S. were condensing boilers and by 2012, the péage had grown to approximately 40 percent. Weetdhe transition to continue, which
would result in approximately ten percent growtt.athinvar-branded sales in 2014 and for the faralke future after 2014. If the transition
to higher efficiency, condensing boilers stallaassult of lower energy costs, another recessionrs or our competitorséchnologies surpa
our technology, our growth rate could be lower thapected.

« A failure in our implementation of a new enterpnissource planning system or our information tedbgy infrastructure or application
could negatively affect our busine

We depend on information technology to record amd¢ss customers’ orders, manufacture and shipuptedh a timely manner, and maintain
the financial accuracy of our business records.awéen the process of implementing a global enisemesource planning system (ERP) that
will redesign and deploy new processes and a coninformation system across our plants over a pavicgkveral years. There is no certainty
that this system will deliver the expected benefitse failure to achieve our goals may impact dailitg to process transactions accurately anc
efficiently, which could increase costs impactingffiability or otherwise impact our business. bid#ion, the failure to either deliver the
application on time, or anticipate the necessaagireess and training needs, could lead to busiliessption and loss of customers and
revenue. Also, our information systems could besprated by outside parties intent on extractingrimiation, corrupting information, or
disrupting business processes. Such unauthorizegacould disrupt our business and could restitteiioss of assets.

* We increasingly sell our products outside the UaMBich may present additional risks to our busir

Approximately 38 percent of our 2013 net sales vedtrdbutable to products sold outside of the Upimarily in China and Canada and to a
lesser extent in Europe and India. Approximate806,of our 11,400 total employees as of DecembgR@13 were located in China. At
December 31, 2013, approximately $240 million of cash and marketable securities balances wertelb@aChina. International operations
generally are subject to various risks, includingjtizal, religious, and economic instability, lddabor market conditions, the imposition of
foreign tariffs and other trade restrictions, thmpact of foreign government regulations, the effeitincome taxes, governmental
expropriation, the imposition or increases in wilting and other taxes on remittances and othempais by foreign subsidiaries, labor
relations problems, the imposition of environmetaémployment laws, or other restrictions by fgregovernments and differences in
business practices. We may incur increased codtsexgerience delays or disruptions in product éeiés and payments in connection with
international manufacturing and sales that couidsea loss of revenue. Unfavorable changes indligcpl, regulatory, and business climate
could have a material adverse effect on our firdre@ndition, results of operations and cash flowsur ability to repatriate funds to the U.S.
As of December 31, 2013, approximately $486 milladrtash, cash equivalents and marketable secuvitige held by our foreign subsidiaries.
The company would incur a cost to repatriate tliesds to the U.S.

» Because we participate in markets that are higliypetitive, our revenues could decline as we regporcompetitior

We sell all of our products in highly competitivearkets. We compete in each of our targeted maldasted on product design, reliability,
quality of products and services, advanced teclyiedy product performance, maintenance costs aoel. pfe compete against manufacturers
located, primarily, in North America and China. Spof our competitors may have greater financiakketing, manufacturing, research and
development and distribution resources than we .hateecannot assure that our products and servidlesontinue to compete successfully
with those of our competitors or that we will bdeato retain our customer base or improve or mairdgar profit margins on sales to our
customers, all of which could materially and adegraffect our financial condition, results of oagons and cash flows.

» If we are unable to develop product innovations amgrove our technology and expertise, we could msstomers or market she

Our success may depend on our ability to adapdionological changes in the water heating, boieraater treatment industries. If we are
unable to timely develop and introduce new produmt&nhance existing products, in response togihgmrmarket conditions or customer
requirements or demands, our competitiveness dmuldaterially and adversely affected. Our abilitglevelop and successfully market new
products and to develop, acquire, and retain nacgssellectual property rights is essential t@ continued success, but cannot reasonably b
assured.



* A substantial contribution to our financial resultas come through acquisitions and we may not betalidentify or complete futu
acquisitions, which could adversely affect our fatgrowth

Acquisitions we have made have had a significapiich on our results of operations. While we wilhttoue to evaluate potential acquisitions
and we intend to use a significant portion of owaikable capital for future acquisitions, we may he able to identify and successfully
negotiate suitable acquisitions, obtain financimgffiture acquisitions on satisfactory terms, mgilcash flows from operations, obtain
regulatory approval for certain acquisitions, drestvise complete acquisitions in the future. If@eaplete any future acquisitions, then we
may not be able to successfully integrate the aeduusinesses or operate them profitably or actiempur strategic objectives for those
acquisitions. If we complete any future acquisisi@m new geographies, our unfamiliarity with looagulations and market customs may im|
our ability to operate them profitably or achieve etrategic objectives for those acquisitions. {@uel of indebtedness may increase in the
future if we finance acquisitions with debt, whigbuld cause us to incur additional interest expemskcould increase our vulnerability to
general adverse economic and industry conditioddiarit our ability to service our debt or obtaidditional financing. The impact of future
acquisitions may have a material adverse effectusrfinancial condition, results of operations aagh flows.

» Our international operations are subject to risldated to foreign currencie

We have significant operations outside of the Up8marily in China and Canada and to a lessemg@arope and India, and therefore, hold
assets, incur liabilities, earn revenues and pageses in a variety of currencies other than ti& tollar. The financial statements of our
foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dslia our consolidated financial statements. Assalt, we are subject to risks associated with
operating in foreign countries, including fluctwats in currency exchange rates and interest ratésyperinflation in some foreign countries.
Furthermore, typically our products are priceddrefgn countries in local currencies. As a reqiitjncrease in the value of the U.S. dollar
relative to the local currencies of our foreign keas could have a negative effect on our profitgbiln addition to currency translation risks,
we incur a currency transaction risk whenever drauo subsidiaries enters into either a purchassat transaction using a currency different
from the operating subsidiaries’ functional curngnthese risks may hurt our reported sales andtgiiafthe future or negatively impact
revenues and earnings translated from foreign oaigs into U.S. dollars.

» Changes in regulations or standards could adveraéfigct our busines

Our products are subject to a wide variety of stegy regulatory and industry standards and requérms related to, among other items, energ
efficiency, environmental emissions, labeling aafkty. Specifically, we are currently redesigning cesidential water heater product offeri

in the U.S. to meet new mandated energy conservatamdards by April 16, 2015 and adapting to agsed revision by the U.S. Department
of Energy to the method of testing used to deteensmmpliance with such energy standards for U.$emeeaters. While we believe our
products are currently efficient, safe and envirentrfriendly and we are on course to comply with lew energy standards and method of
testing in the U.S., an inability to comply withetproposed requirements or a significant changlee®e regulatory requirements, whether
federal, foreign, state or local, or otherwisendustry standards could substantially increase faatwuring costs, impact the size and timing of
demand for our products, or put us at a competdisadvantage, any of which could harm our busiaesshave a material adverse effect on
our financial condition, results of operations @adh flow.

e Our business may be adversely impacted by prodafettt

Product defects can occur through our own prodeeebpment, design and manufacturing processdsaugh our reliance on third parties
component design and manufacturing activities. Vg mcur various expenses related to product defeatluding product warranty costs,
product recall and retrofit costs. While we maintaireserve for product warranty costs based dainegstimates and our knowledge of cur
events and actions, our actual warranty costs rregegl our reserve, resulting in current period agpe and a need to increase our reserve
warranty charges. In addition, product defectsraedlls may diminish the reputation of our branartier, our inability to cure a product def
could result in the failure of a product line oe ttemporary or permanent withdrawal from a produgharket. Any of these events may have &
material adverse impact on our financial conditi@sults of operations and cash flows.
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* Retention of key personnel is important to our hess

Attracting and retaining talented employees is irtgott to the continued success of our busineshirEab retain key personnel, particularly on
the leadership team, would have a material effaaiwr business and our ability to execute our lassirstrategies in a timely and effective
manner.

» Our operations could be adversely impacted by ntprice volatility and supplier concentratic

The market prices for certain raw materials we pase, primarily steel, have been very volatilenBicant increases in the cost of any of the
key materials we purchase could increase our dakting business and ultimately could lead to lospeerating earnings if we are not able to
recover these cost increases through price incse¢aseur customers. Historically, there has bekagan our ability to recover increased
material costs from customers, and that lag coatghtively impact our profitability. In addition, Bome cases we are dependent on a limited
number of suppliers for some of the raw materiats @mponents we require in the manufacture opoadlucts. A significant disruption or
termination of the supply from one of these suppl@uld delay sales or increase costs which amddlt in a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations and cfaivs.

* We are subject to regulation of our internationgkesations that could adversely affect our busireess results of operatior

Due to our global operations, we are subject toynhaws governing international relations, includihgse that prohibit improper payments to
government officials and restrict where we can dsitess, what information or products we can sufipbertain countries and what
information we can provide to a hon-U.S. governmiruding but not limited to the Foreign Corrigractices Act and the U.S. Export
Administration Act. Violations of these laws, whiahe complex, may result in criminal penaltiesamaions that could have a material adv
effect on our financial condition, results of ogéras and cash flows.

« Our results of operations may be negatively impadbie product liability lawsuits and clain

Our water heating, boiler and water treatment petalaxpose us to potential product liability righkat are inherent in the design, manufacture.
sale and use of our products. While we currentlintain what we believe to be suitable product ligbinsurance, we cannot assure you that
we will be able to maintain this insurance on atakle terms, that this insurance will provide adsqprotection against potential liabilities or
that our insurance providers will be able to ultielapay all insured losses. In addition, we se#ftire a portion of product liability claims. A
series of successful claims against us could nadiieend adversely affect our reputation and owatficial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

e Our underfunded pension plans require future pemsiantributions which could limit our flexibilitpimanaging our compar

Due to the significant negative investment retumn®008 and falling interest rates in recent yetims projected benefit obligations of our
defined benefit pension plans exceeded the fairevaf the plan assets by approximately $115 miiibBecember 31, 2013. U.S. employees
hired after January 1, 2010 have not participatezlir defined benefit plan and benefit accrualgtiermajority of current salaried and hourly
employees will stop at the end of 2014. Beginnin@®08, our minimum required pension contributiegsal our target normal cost plus a
seven year amortization of any funding shortfdliset by any Employee Retirement Income Security #c974 (ERISA) credit balance. We
are forecasting that there will be no required dbuations to the plan in 2014, and we do not plamgke any voluntary contributions.
However, we cannot provide any assurance thatibotizns will not be required in the future. Amotige key assumptions inherent in our
actuarially calculated pension plan obligation pedsion plan expense are the discount rate arekifexted rate of return on plan assets. If
interest rates and actual rates of return on iedeglan assets were to decrease significantlypension plan obligations could increase
materially. The size of future required pensiontdbations could result in us dedicating a subsshportion of our cash flows from operations
to making the contributions which could negativiahpact our flexibility in managing the company.
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* We have significant goodwill and indefinite-livedaingible assets and an impairment of our goodwaillld cause a decline in our net
worth

Our total assets include significant goodwill andéfinite-lived intangible assets. Our goodwilluks from our acquisitions, representing the
excess of the purchase prices we paid over thedaie of the net tangible and intangible assetaeguired. We assess whether there has be
impairments in the value of our goodwill or indéfimlived intangible assets during the fourth qeldf each calendar year or sooner if
triggering events warrant. If future operating peniance at our businesses do not meet expectatiensiay be required to reflect non-cash
charges to operating results for goodwill or indid-lived intangible asset impairments. The redtgm of an impairment of a significant
portion of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangiblassets would negatively affect our results of dj@na and total capitalization, the effect of
which could be material. A significant reductionaar stockholders’ equity due to an impairment @abdwill or indefinite-lived intangible
assets may affect our ability to maintain the debdapital ratio required under our existing daibaagements. We have identified the valuatiol
of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assefs a critical accounting policy. See “Managemebtscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Aatting Policies—Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intgible Assets” included in Item 7 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

* New regulations related to conflict minerals coaldiversely impact our busine

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumergetimn Act contains provisions to improve transpayeand accountability concerning
the supply of certain minerals, known as conflidhenals, originating from the Democratic RepublicGmngo (DRC) and adjoining countries.
As aresult, in August 2012 the SEC adopted angisalosure and reporting requirements for thosepamies who use conflict minerals mined
from the DRC and adjoining countries in their protu These new requirements will require countrgragin inquiries and potentially due
diligence, with initial disclosure requirements begng in May 2014 relating to activities in 20Ihere will be costs associated with
complying with these disclosure requirements, iditig for country of origin inquiries and due diligee to determine the sources of conflict
minerals used in our products and other potentiahges to products, processes or sources of sapply}consequence of such verification
activities. The implementation of these rules caddersely affect the sourcing, supply and pri@hgaterials used in our products. As there
may be only a limited number of suppliers offerfagnflict free” conflict minerals, we cannot be suthat we will be able to obtain necessary
conflict minerals from such suppliers in sufficientantities or at competitive prices. Also, we nfage reputational challenges if we determine
that certain of our products contain minerals resednined to be conflict free or if we are unablsufficiently verify the origins for all conflic
minerals used in our products through the procedweemay implement.

» Certain members of the founding family of our conypand trusts for their benefit have the abilityiniluence all matters requiring
stockholder approve

We have two classes of common equity: our Commonksand our Class A Common Stock. The holders ah@on Stock currently are
entitled, as a class, to elect only one-third aftmeard of directors. The holders of Class A ComiBtock are entitled, as a class, to elect the
remaining directors. Certain members of the fougdamily of our company and trusts for their benéSimith Family) have entered into a
voting trust agreement with respect to shares ofddass A Common Stock and shares of our CommockStkey own. As of December 31,
2013 these members of the Smith Family own appratein 60.3 percent of the total voting power of outstanding shares of Class A
Common Stock and Common Stock, taken togethesamée class, and approximately 95.1 percent of/thieng power of the outstanding
shares of our Class A Common Stock, as a sepdeat® ©ue to the differences in the voting righgtaleen shares of our Common Stock and
shares of our Class A Common Stock, the Smith Raisiih a position to control to a large extent thikcome of matters requiring a
stockholder vote, including the adoption of amendisi¢o our certificate of incorporation or bylawsapproval of transactions involving a
change of control. This ownership position may é@ase if other members of the Smith Family enter tihé voting trust agreement, and the
voting power relating to this ownership positionyniacrease if shares of our Class A Common Stodd by stockholders who are not parties
to the voting trust agreement are converted intweshof our Common Stock. The voting trust agre¢mpeavides that in the event one of the
parties to the voting trust agreement wants todvétv from the trust or transfer any of its sharesuwr Class A Common Stock, such shares of
our Class A Common Stock are automatically exchadrfigeshares of our Common Stock held by the tiaugihe extent available in the trust. In
addition, the trust will have the right to purchéise shares of our Class A Common Stock and ourrm@mmStock proposed to be withdrawn or
transferred from the trust. As a result, the Srdimily members that are parties to the voting tagseement have the ability to maintain their
collective voting rights in our company even ifteén members of the Smith Family decide to trantfeir shares.
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ITEM 1B - UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES

Properties utilized by us at December 31, 2013 aer®llows:

North America

This segment has 12 manufacturing plants locatéigérstates and two non-U.S. countries, of whexhare owned directly by us or our
subsidiaries and two are leased from outside garfiee terms of leases in effect at December 313 28pire in 2014 and 2015.

Rest of World

This segment has seven manufacturing plants logatedir non-U.S. countries, of which three are edmlirectly by us or our subsidiaries and
four are leased from outside parties. Initial le@ses generally provide for minimum terms of o060 years and have two or more renewal
options. The terms of leases in effect at DecerBlbeR013 expire between 2014 and 2027.

Corporate and General

We consider our plants and other physical propettiebe suitable, adequate, and of sufficient prtde capacity to meet the requirements of
our business. The manufacturing plants operatarging levels of utilization depending on the tygf@peration and market conditions. The
executive offices of the company, which are leasee Jocated in Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various unresolved legal acti@ninistrative proceedings and claims in ther@di course of our business involving
product liability, property damage, insurance cager, exposure to asbestos and other substancestspatd environmental matters, including
the disposal of hazardous waste. Although it ispustsible to predict with certainty the outcomeéhafse unresolved legal actions or the ran
possible loss or recovery, we believe, based ohgx@erience, adequate reserves and insurancelailigyl that these unresolved legal actions
will not have a material effect on our financiakfimn or results of operations. A more detailestdssion of certain of these matters appears |
Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem

ITEM 4 - MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable

11



EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to General Instruction of G(3) of FormKl,Qhe following is a list of the executive officewhich is included as an unnumbered Item
in Part | of this report in lieu of being includedour Proxy Statement for our 2014 Annual Meetiigtockholders.

Name (Age Positions Held Period Position Was Hel
Stephen S. Anderson (65) Senior Vice Preside- Manufacturing and Supply Cha 2011 to Preser
Senior Vice President — Manufacturing and Supplgi€h A. O. Smith Water
Products Compan 2004 to 201:
Randall S. Bednar (6: Senior Vice Presidel- Chief Information Officel 2007 to Preser
Senior Vice Presidel- Information Technolog' 2006
Vice Presiden- Information Technolog' 2001 to 200¢
Wilfridus M. Brouwer (55) Senior Vice Presidel 2013 to Preser
Presiden— A. O. Smith Holdings (Barbados) SF 2013 to Preser
Presiden— A. O. Smith (China) Investment Co., Lt 2013
Senior Vice Presidel- Asia 2009 to 201:
President and General Mana+ A. O. Smith (China) Investment Co., L 2009 to 201:
Executive Project Lead— Akzo Nobel 2007 to 200¢
Vice President Decorative Coatings; President 8gparation— Akzo Nobel 2005 to 2007
Wei Ding (51) Senior Vice Presidel 2013 to Preser

President — A.O. Smith (China) Investment Co., L&Eneral Manager — A.O.
Smith (China) Water Heater Co., Ltd. and A.O. Sni8hanghai) Water Treatment

Products Co. Ltd 2013 to Preser
President and General Mana+ A. O. Smith (China) Water Heater Co., L 2013

Senior Vice Presider- A. O. Smith Water Products Compa 2011 to 201
Vice Presiden— China— A. O. Smith Water Products Compa 2006 to 201:
General Manage- A. O. Smith (China) Water Heater Co., L 1999 to 201:
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Name (Age Positions Held Period Position Was Hel

Robert J. Heideman (47) Senior Vice Presider Chief Technology Office 2013 to Preser
Senior Vice Preside- Engineering & Technolog 2011 to 201:
Senior Vice Presider Corporate Technolog 2010 to 201:
Vice Presiden- Corporate Technolog 2007 to 201(
Director— Materials 2005 to 2007
Section Manage 2002 to 200¢
Engineering Supervis— Kohler Company 2001

Paul W. Jones (6: Executive Chairman of the Board | 2013 to 201«
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic 2011 to 201
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off 2006 to 201
President and Chief Operating Offic 2004 to 200¢
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic— U.S. Can Compan 1998 to 200:

John J. Kita (58 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi 2011 to Preser
Senior Vice President, Corporate Finance and Cheti 2006 to 201

Charles T. Lauber (5:

Mark A. Petrarca (5C

Vice President, Treasurer and Contro
Treasurer and Controlli

Assistant Treasur¢

Senior Vice President, Strategy and Plani

Senior Vice President — Group Chief Financial Gffie A. O. Smith Water Products

Company

Senior Vice President — Chief Financial Officer @&\ Smith Water Products

Company

Vice Presiden- Global Finance A. O. Smith Electrical Products Compa

Vice President and Controll- A. O. Smith Electrical Products Compa

Director of Audit and Ta;
Senior Vice Presidel- Human Resources and Public Affa
Vice Presiden— Human Resources and Public Affs

Vice Presiden—- Human Resource- A. O. Smith Water Products Compa
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1996 to 200¢
1995 to 199¢
1988 to 199¢
2013 to Preser

2011 to 201

2006 to 201:
2004 to 200¢
2001 to 200¢
1999 to 200:
2006 to Preser
2005 to 200¢
1999 to 200«



Name (Age
Ajita G. Rajendra (62)

Steve W. Rettler (5¢
James F. Stern (5

William L. Vallett Jr. (54)

Kevin J. Wheeler (54

Positions Held

Period Position Was Hel(

President and Chief Executive Officer

President and Chief Operating Offic

Executive Vice Presidel

Presiden— A. O. Smith Water Products Compa
Senior Vice Presidel

Senior Vice Presidel- Industrial Products Group, Kennametal |
Senior Vice Presidel- Corporate Developmel

Vice Presiden- Business Developme

Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Sy
Partner- Foley & Lardner LLF

Senior Vice Presidel

Chief Executive Office— Lochinvar, LLC

Chief Executive Office— Lochinvar Corporatiol
Senior Vice Presidel

President and General Mana~ North America, India and Europe Water Heal

Senior Vice President and General Manager — Nortterica, India and Europe — A.

O. Smith Water Products Compa

Senior Vice President and General Manager — U.&ilReA. O. Smith Water
Products Compan

Vice Presiden- Internationa— A. O. Smith Water Products Compa

Managing Directo— A. O. Smith Water Products Company B

2013 to Preser
2011 to 201
2006 to 201
2005 to 201:
2005 to 200¢
1998 to 200«
2006 to Preser
1998 to 200¢
2007 to Preser
1997 to 200¢
2013 to Preser
2012 to Preser
1992 to 201:
2013 to Preser
2013 to Preser

2011 to 201

2007 to 201!
2004 to 200"
1999 to 200¢

(1) Mr. Jones announced his intention to retire effecApril 7, 2014 (the date of our annual stockhddaeeting). Mr. Rajendra was elec
by the Board of Directors of the company to assthmeeoosition of Chairman of the Board of Directopon Mr. Jone€’ retirement,
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PART Il

ITEM S5 - MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

On April 15, 2013, our board of directors declaaetivo-for-one stock split of our Class A Commonc&tand Common Stock in the form of a
100 percent stock dividend to stockholders of réaor April 30, 2013 and payable on May 15, 2013 réflerences in this Item 5 to numbers
A. O. Smith Corporation shares or price per sharetbeen adjusted to reflect the split.

(@)

(b)
()
(d)

(e)

Market InformationOur Common Stock is listed on the New York Stockliange under the symbol AOS. Our Class A CommookSto
is not listed. Wells Fargo Shareowner Services,. NPAO. Box 64854, St. Paul, Minnesota, 55164-085%es as the registrar, stock
transfer agent and the dividend reinvestment aigerur Common Stock and Class A Common St

Quarterly Common Stock Price Range

201: 1st Otr. 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.
High $37.47  $40.3¢  $46.0¢  $55.1¢
Low 31.0] 33.3¢ 36.3: 42.7:
201Z 1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.
High $23.5¢  $24.6¢  $29.46¢  $31.9¢
Low 20.2: 21.0: 23.4¢ 27.7¢

Holders. As of January 31, 2014, the approxénmatmber of shareholders of record of Common SamckClass A Common Stock were
740 and 170, respectivel

Dividends. Dividends declared on the commomlstre shown in Note 17 of Notes to Consolidatedhitial Statements appearing
elsewhere hereit

Stock Repurchases. On December 14, 2007, aurdlaf directors approved a stock repurchase proguathorizing the purchase of up to
3,000,0000 shares (split adjusted), and in Dece@®®0, our board of directors ratified that authation. On July 8, 2013, our board of
directors approved a stock repurchase program aziting the purchase of an additional 2,000,000ehaf our common stock. Under the
share repurchase program, the company’s commok stag be purchased through a combination of RubbiDautomatic trading plan
and discretionary purchases in accordance withiggipé securities laws. The number of shares pseghand the timing of the purchase
will depend on a number of factors, including shariee, trading volume and general market cond#j@s well as on working capital
requirements, general business conditions and &htors, including alternative investment oppoitties. The stock repurchase
authorization remains effective until terminateddoy board of directors which may occur at any tisubject to the parameters of any
Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan that we may theve in effect. In 2013, we repurchased 1,771db@es at an average price of
$41.62 per share and at a total cost of $73.7anillAs of December 31, 2013, there were 1,152,/d6es remaining on the existing
repurchase authorizatio

The following table sets forth the number of sharesommon stock the company repurchased duringptin¢h quarter of 2013:

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIE

Maximum Numbe
Total Number of

Shares Purchased of Shares that m
Total Numbe Average Part of Publicly yet be Purchased
Price Pai Announced Plans Under the Plans
of Shares

Perioc Purchasel per Shar Programs Programs
October 1 — October 31, 2013 162,75t $ 44.4: 162,75t 1,152,771
November - November 30, 201 — — — 1,152,771
December = December 31, 201 — — — 1,152,771

Performance Graph. The following informatiorthirs Item 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-khist deemed to be “soliciting
material” or to be “filed” with the SEC or subjeictRegulation 14A or 14C under the Securities ErgeaAct of 1934 or to the liabilities
of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of4,3%d will not be deemed to be incorporated bgreefce into any filing under the
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchangedk 1934, except to the extent we specificallyoirporate it by reference into such a
filing.
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The graph below shows a five-year comparison ottireulative shareholder return on our Common Staith the cumulative total return of
the Standard & Poor’s (S&P) Mid Cap 400 Index, SBall Cap 600 Index and the Russell 1000 Indexthedle of which are published
indices. The company added the S&P Mid Cap 4004drdean appropriate index for comparison in thisdal Report on Form 10-K as our
Common Stock was added to the S&P Mid Cap 400 lim&ovember 2013 and removed from the S&P Smafi Index at the same tir
In future periods, the S&P Small Cap 600 Index wit be included in the comparison.

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return
From December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2013
Assumes $100 Invested with Reinvestment of Dividend

600
550
500
450
400
350
300
250
200
150
100
50
o :
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
==t SMITH (A O) CORP === 5P MIDCAP 400 INDEX === S&P SMALLCAP 600 INDEX  =—s—RUSSELL 1000 INDEX |
Base Perio INDEXED RETURNS
Company/Inde 12/31/08  12/31/0¢ 12/31/1( 12/3U1. 12/31/1: 12/3UL
A. O. SMITH CORP 100.( 150.f 201.¢ 215.¢ 343.% 594
S&P MID CAP 400 INDEX 100.( 137.t 174.% 170.¢ 200.7 268.(
S&P SMALL CAP 600 INDEX 100.( 125.¢ 158.¢ 160.2 186.4 263.:
RUSSELL 1000 INDEX 100.( 128.¢ 149.1 173.1 201.t 268.:
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ITEM 6 —SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The data presented below includes the impact ofrmrger transaction with Smith Investment Comp&iZ Q) which closed on April 22,

2009 and was accounted for as a reverse acquisisioaquired by generally accepted accounting iptess (GAAP). The primary accounting
impact is in the calculation of our earnings pearshbecause the accounting rules required theflBkKC® adjusted average shares outstanding
prior to closing. Although 2010 through 2013 ar¢ ingpacted, 2009 and previously reported years \ivepacted.

(dollars in millions, except per share amou
Years ended December

20130 2012 20110.0) 20104 20090

Net sale— continuing operations $2,153.¢ $1,939.0 $1,710.! $1,489.0 $1,375.(
Earnings (loss

Continuing operation 169.% 162.€ 111.2 57.1 60.t

Discontinued operatior — (3.9 194t 54.4 29.1

Net earning: 169.% 158.7 305.7 111.F 89.¢

Net loss (earnings) attributable to noncontroliimigrest:

Continuing operation — — — 0.2 (9.6)
Discontinued operatior — — — — 1.3

Net earnings attributable to A. O. Smith Corpona $ 1697 $ 1587 $ 3057 $ 11155 $ 81:
Basic earnings (loss) per share of common s(1).(4)

Continuing operation $ 18 $ 17¢ $ 12 $ 06z $ 0.7

Discontinued operatior — (0.09 2.11 0.5¢ 0.47

Net earning: $ 18 $ 172 $ 331 $ 122 $ 1.2
Diluted earnings (loss) per share of common s(1).(4)

Continuing operation $ 18 $ 178 $ 11¢ $ 06z $ 0.77

Discontinued operatior — (0.09 2.0¢ 0.5¢ 0.4¢€

Net earning: $ 18 $ 171 $ 328 $ 121 $ 1.2¢
Cash dividends per common sh®).(4) $ 04 $ 03€ $ 03C $ 027 $ 0.2¢

December 3:
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Total assets $2,391.! $2,278.6 $2,349.C $2,110.¢ $1,973.(
Long-termdebt®) 177.% 225.1 443.( 242 .. 232.1
Total stockholder equity 1,328.° 1,194.: 1,085.¢ 881. 789.¢

@ In April 2013, we declared a 100 percent stockdtivid to holders of Common Stock and Class A Com&tonk which is not included
cash dividends. Basic and diluted earnings persti@ calculated using the weighted average sbatstgnding which were restated for
all periods presented to reflect the stock divide

(@ In August 2011, we sold EPC which is reflected dssaontinued operation for all periods presen

(®  In August 2011, we acquired Lochinv

@ In October 2010, we declared a 50 percent stadbtechd to holders of Common Stock and Class A Cami&tock which is not included
in cash dividends. Basic and diluted earnings paresare calculated using the weighted averagesloatstanding which were restated
for all periods presented to reflect the stockdkwid.

®)  In November 2009, we acquired an 80 percentdsten the water treatment business of Tianlonghénfourth quarter of 2010, we
acquired the remaining 20 percent interest in tagemtreatment business of Tianlo

)  Excludes the current portion of Ic-term debt
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ITEM 7 — MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

We are a leading manufacturer of water heatersdailers, serving a diverse mix of residential anchmercial end markets principally in the
U.S. with a strong and growing international presei©ur company is comprised of two reporting segseNorth America and Rest of Wor
Both segments manufacture and market comprehelisaseof residential and commercial gas, gas taskéand electric water heaters. Both
segments primarily manufacture and market in tfesipective region of the world. Our Rest of Wordment is primarily comprised of China,
Europe and India. The North America segment alsoufsatures and globally markets specialty commeévesder heating equipment,
condensing and non-condensing boilers and watésmsgstanks. The Rest of World segment also manugand markets water treatment
products, primarily for Asia. On August 22, 201% sold EPC to RBC for approximately $760 milliorcesh and approximately 2.83 million
shares of RBC common stock valued at $140.6 milisiof that date. Due to the sale, EPC has beletted as a discontinued operation in the
accompanying financial statements for all periodsented. In 2013, sales for our North America sagnwere $1,520.0 million and sales for
our Rest of World segment were $668.0 million.

Sales of our Rest of World A. O. Smith branded prtsl in China grew significantly in 2013. We expsales in China to grow at the rate of
approximately two times the rate of China’s grossdstic product growth in 2014, as geographic esipan market share gains, growth in
water treatment and improved product mix contridiateur growth. The residential replacement mackeitributed significantly to 2013 sales
in our North America segment. Our 2013 North Ameriesidential unit sales grew msihgle digits compared to the prior year and conumé
sales showed modest unit growth. We expect thehNamerica residential and commercial water heatdustry unit growth to each be one to
two percent in 2014. Lochinvar-branded productdriomed over $250 million to our net sales in 2048d we expect further sales growth of
Lochinvar-branded products of over ten percentOb4? driven by sales of energy efficient produgisproximately 40 percent of Lochinvar-
branded sales consist of residential and commeneitdr heaters while the remaining 60 percent ahirvarbranded sales consist primarily
boilers and related parts.

On April 15, 2013, our board of directors declaaetivo-for-one stock split of our Class A Commonc&tand Common Stock in the form of a
100 percent stock dividend to stockholders of réaor April 30, 2013 and payable on May 15, 2013.

Our stated acquisition strategy includes a numbeupwater-related strategic initiatives. We vidlbk to continue to grow our core residential
and commercial water heating, boiler and wateitrmeat businesses throughout the world. We will alsotinue to look for opportunities to
add to our existing operations in the high grovethions of China and India.

Consistent with our stated strategy to expand ote product offering we acquired Lochinvar in 20lldchinvar, one of the leading
manufacturers of residential and commercial boilethe U.S., fit squarely within our stated stgagegrowth initiative to expand our core we
heating business. In 2012, approximately 40 peraEhbilers sold in the U.S. were condensing bejleompared with five percent eight years
ago. Our Lochinvar brand is a leading brand of aigéfficiency, condensing boilers. We expect thedition in the U.S. to higher efficiency
boilers will continue into the foreseeable futuiée paid for Lochinvar using a combination of casthand and amounts that we borrowed
under our credit facility.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our sales in 2013 were a record $2,153.8 milliapassing 2012 sales of $1,939.3 million by 11.keet. The increase in sales is due to a
percent increase in sales of A. O. Smith brandedymts in China to $565.2 million as well as highelumes of residential and commercial
water heaters and boilers in the U.S. Our sal@912 were higher than 2011 sales from continuirgragons of $1,710.5 million by 13.4
percent. The increase in sales in 2012 was at#fifbeiimostly to sales of Lochinvar-branded produsts.acquired Lochinvar in August 2011,
and sales of Lochinvasranded products totaled $225.7 million in 2012 pared with $75.9 million in 2011. Additionally, salof A. O. Smitl
branded products in China grew 20.5 percent to $4dfillion in 2012 compared to 2011.

Our gross profit margin in 2013 increased to 3®2&ent from 33.6 percent in 2012. The higher gpwefit margin in 2013 was primarily due
to the contribution from increased sales volumesater heaters and boilers in the U.S., lower nedteosts in the U.S., and higher sales of
A. O. Smith branded products in China as well ghéii priced product mix as a result of productidtrctions with higher value features and
benefits in China. Our 2012 gross profit marginréased 3.6 percent from 30.0 percent for continopgyations in 2011. The impact of the
addition of relatively higher margin sales of Laohar-branded products, increased sales of A. OtfSmanded products in China and lower
manufacturing and warranty costs in North Amerioatdbuted to higher gross profit margins in 2012.
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Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenserse $74.0 million higher in 2013 than in 2012¢eThcrease in SG&A expenses in 2013
to $524.5 million was primarily due to higher seffiand advertising costs in support of increasédmes in North America and China as well
as higher pension expenses in North America. SGRgenses were $77.7 million higher in 2012 thanGf@2due to higher selling and
advertising costs in support of increased volumeShina, additional expenses from a full year oftiiavar operations and increased pension
expenses in North America.

On March 28, 2013, our board of directors apprav@thn to transfer residential water heater pradadtom our Fergus, Ontario plant to our
other North American facilities. The majority ofrquroduction was consolidated in the second quaft2013. As a result of the capacity
rationalization, we incurred pre-tax restructurargl impairment expenses of $22.0 million in 2018tesl to employee severance costs,
impairments of assets and equipment relocatiorscdsiese activities are reflected in the “Restmicty impairment and settlement expense
(income) net” line in the accompanying financiatements. We expect pre-tax annual savings of appately $10 million in 2014 as a result
of these actions which would represent an increaié&f million of pre-tax savings as compared to201

In addition, included in operating earnings in 2643 pre-tax gain of $11.0 million resulting fransettlement with a former supplier related tc
previous overcharges and warranty costs. Operatingings in 2012 included a pre-tax gain of $3.Bianiassociated with a legal settlement
with a component supplier for our Canadian openati®ur 2011 operating earnings included a preagéax of $11.2 million from a legal
settlement with a component supplier for our Ujserations. These gains are also reflected in tlestiRcturing, impairment and settlement
expense (income) net” line in the accompanyingrfaia statements.

Also included in 2012 operating earnings is a $8illon favorable adjustment related to the finatibn of an earn-out obligation from our
acquisition of Lochinvar. This earn-out adjustmisnteflected as “Contingent consideration adjustrhienthe accompanying financial
statements.

Pension expense in 2013 was $27.9 million comper&d 3.8 million and $3.3 million for continuing eftions in 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The increases in pension expens@if and 2012 were primarily due to increases irathertization of unrecognized net
actuarial losses in these years in addition toeses®s in the expected rate of return on plan assets

Interest expense in 2013 was $5.7 million comp#oedterest expense of $9.2 million in 2012. Thghleir interest expense in 2012 was due to
higher debt levels as a result of the Lochinvaugition in 2011. In addition, in 2011 we sold dtlectrical Products Company (EPC) to Rega
Beloit Corporation (RBC) and received 2.83 millisimares of RBC common stock. During 2012 we soldfatlur shares of RBC common
stock, the net proceeds of which were used to payndlebt in 2012. Interest expense for continuipgrations was $9.3 million in 2011.
Interest expense in 2011 is net of the amount atiémtto discontinued operations. Interest expdratecbuld not be attributed to specific enti
within the company was allocated to EPC based ematio of net assets to be sold to the sum oftimsolidated net assets and debt exclusive
of debt attributable to specific entities of thergmany.

Net other income was $3.8 million in 2013, dowmifr§34.3 million in 2012. Other income in 2012 wasprised primarily of $27.2 millio
pre-tax gains on the sale of the shares of RBC comrstock received in the sale of EPC, net of thasaich of the RBC share collar discussed
below with most of the remainder of 2012 net oiheome resulting from interest income on investraegasulting from the sale of EPC. Other
income was $19.8 million in 2011. We received tlBCRrommon stock in August 2011 under an agreenhatte executed in December
2010. The RBC share price appreciated in 2011 dwimich we entered into an equity collar contractF0 percent of the shares that we
expected to receive to protect a portion of theegption. The collar did not qualify for hedge agnting and therefore was adjusted to fair
value through earnings from continuing operatidtshe end of 2011, the contract was marked to etarkder accounting rules, resulting in a
$17.9 million pretax gain during 2011. The market price of the shafeRBC common stock we received increased byokied share from tt
date of the sale of EPC until the end of 2011 tesuin a $1.9 million pre-tax gain on the 50 pertcef shares covered by the collar contract.
The resulting net gain on shares of RBC commorkstativity of $19.8 million in 2011 was recordedather income from continuing
operations.

Our effective tax rate was 28.2 percent in 2018 mared with 30.4 percent and 31.1 percent for nairig operations in 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The rate decline in 2013 from 2012 ywamarily due to increased profits in jurisdictiowith lower enacted income tax rates thar
the U.S., principally China, and research tax dsedihe rate decline in 2012 from 2011 was duaitpdr than anticipated tax deductions
resulting from our domestic production activitiesddction.

Our 2012 net earnings include discontinued operatadtertax losses of $3.9 million, or $.04 per dilutedrehaelated to the sale of EPC wh
occurred in 2011. Included in discontinued operetim 2012 was $6.4 million of expense represertiegcorrection of an error primarily due
to our calculation of taxes due upon repatriatiboralistributed foreign earnings. Our 2011 net eg®include discontinued operations of
$194.5 million, or $2.09 per diluted share, rela@&PC.
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North America

Sales in our North America segment were $1,520lomin 2013 or $89.2 million higher than sales$df,430.8 million in 2012. The sales
increase in 2013 was primarily due to higher safegsidential and commercial water heaters ankbimin the U.S. Sales in 2012 were $141.:
million higher than sales of $1,289.5 million in120 The sales increase in 2012 included $142.9amitf incremental sales from Lochinvar-
branded products resulting from our acquisitioh.@€hinvar which we completed on August 26, 2011. 8M® experienced higher volumes of
U.S. residential and commercial water heaters wiviete offset by lower gas tankless and Canadiaanegater volumes in 2012.

North America operating earnings were $211.9 miliio 2013 as compared to operating earnings of $198lion and $154.0 million in 201
and 2011, respectively. Adjusted segment operaangings were $237.7 million in 2013 as compareatifasted segment operating earnings
of $197.0 million and $149.2 million in 2012 andlAQrespectively. Operating margins were 13.9 perice2013 and 14.0 percent in 2012.
Adjusted segment operating margins were 15.6 pence&013 compared to 13.8 percent in 2012. Higltgusted segment operating margin
2013 were primarily due to higher incremental masgissociated with increased volumes of water reate boilers in the U.S. as well as
lower material costs. In 2011, operating marginsewlel .9 percent and adjusted operating margins &k fepercent. Incremental higher mau
sales from our Lochinvar acquisition and higher.UWeSidential and commercial volumes contributethincrease in 2012 adjusted segment
operating earnings and adjusted margins as compauz@il 1.

Adjusted segment operating earnings in 2013 exch2@0 million of pre-tax restructuring and impa@mnt charges associated with the transfe
of production from Fergus, Ontario, an $11.0 milljare-tax gain on the settlement with a former §eppnd $14.8 million of pre-tax non-
operating pension costs. Adjusted segment operatingngs in 2012 exclude a pre-tax gain of $38aniassociated with a legal settlement
with a component supplier for our Canadian openatia $3.3 million favorable adjustment to ourraate of the Lochinvar earn-out obligation
and $4.4 million of pre-tax non-operating pensiosts. Adjusted segment operating earnings in 28&tlée a net pre-tax gain of 3.0 million
from a legal settlement with a component suppberour U.S. operations and an increase to a warraserve associated with the Canadian
component supplier and $1.8 million of pre-tax roperating pension adjustments.

We are providing non-GAAP measures (adjusted egsniadjusted earnings per share, adjusted segmergtimg earnings and adjusted
segment operating margins) that exclude certaingtas well as non-operating pension costs congisfimterest cost, expected return on plan
assets, amortization of actuarial gains (lossed)cantailments. Prior year results are providegd@omparable basis. Reconciliations to
measures on a GAAP basis are provided later irsgggon.

Rest of World

Sales for our Rest of World segment in 2013 we@B¥bmillion or $125.5 million higher than sales®®42.5 million in 2012 due to increased
demand for water heaters and water treatment ptedu€hina and market acceptance of our newehghigalue A. O. Smith branded prodt
in China. Sales for our Rest of World segment ih2®ere $86.9 million higher than sales of $455ilion in 2011 due to a higher priced
product mix in the region as a result of producbwations with more robust features and benef#tsyall as pricing actions.

Rest of World operating earnings were $88.0 miliin2013 compared to operating earnings of $59IBamiand $42.7 million in 2012 and
2011, respectively. Segment operating margins W8r2 percent in 2013 as compared to 11.0 perceh®anpercent in 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Higher operating earnings and marigir)13 were due to higher volumes, a more faveratix of A. O. Smith branded produr

in China and $5 million lower losses for the non@A.Smith branded water treatment business tha pertially offset by larger losses in India
due to higher costs for new product introductionmd brand building as well as currency devaluatidre $16.9 million increase in operating
earnings in 2012 was driven by higher volumes o©ASmith branded products in China and $3 milééneduced losses for the non-A. O.
Smith branded water treatment business which wargafly offset by larger losses in India due tevrgroduct introduction costs and brand
building expenses in the region. The 2011 operatargings and operating margins were impacted $geof $10.2 million in the non-A. O.
Smith branded water treatment business resultong fower sales and costs associated with movirgrniew manufacturing facility in 2011.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our working capital from continuing operations vi#i4.7 million at December 31, 2013 compared w@b8s3 million and $727.9 million at
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 respsctivalesrelated increases in accounts receivable and iowefdvels were partially offs
by similar increases in accounts payable, resuitiressentially no change in working capital in 20The $119.6 million decline in working
capital in 2012 was primarily due to the sale af sluares of RBC common stock which were receiveal r@sult of our divestiture of EPC. The
proceeds from the sale of the RBC common stock weeed to repay debt. The sale of the RBC commark stmre than offset a $57.0 million
sales-related increase in accounts receivablef Becember 31, 2013, all of the $486.0 million aéh, cash equivalents and marketable
securities was held by our foreign subsidiaries.Wdald incur a cost to repatriate these funds ¢éoUts. and have accrued $56.4 million for
repatriation of a portion of these funds.
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Operating cash provided by continuing operatiomind2013 was $282.2 million compared with $171i8iom during 2012 and $61.0 million
during 2011. The improvement in cash flows in 2Q&3 primarily due to higher earnings from operatiand lower outlays for working
capital. The improvement in cash flows in 2012 wamarily related to higher earnings from operasi@md the impact in 2011 of pre-tax
pension contributions of approximately $175 milljpartially offset by lower working capital requirents. We expect cash provided by
operating activities in 2014 to be between $235%2%b million.

Our capital expenditures for continuing operatiomese $97.7 million in 2013, $69.9 million in 2012ck$53.5 million in 2011. Included in
2013 capital expenditures was approximately $4%aniin China and India for the continued constinretof a second water heater
manufacturing plant in Nanjing, China and to coméithe expansion of our manufacturing plant neawgBbore, India. The new plant in China,
which we opened in October 2013, is projected th%@Ipercent more capacity, when fully utilizedpto China water heater operations to
meet local demand. We also continue to expandralia Iplant to accommodate more water heater moidesgurce some component
manufacturing and meet local demand. Approximab&§ million of expenditures in 2013 related to itmplementation of our new ERP
system. Capital expenditures in 2012 were higham th 2011 as a result of construction activitytfoe second water heater plant in China. We
are projecting 2014 capital expenditures of betwgEnand $85 million and 2014 depreciation and &madion of approximately $65 million.
We expect capital spending in 2014 to include axprately $20 million to support our ERP implemeidat

In December 2012, we completed a $400 million rudtirency five year revolving credit facility witingroup of eight banks. The facility has
an accordion provision which allows it to be inced up to $500 million if certain conditions (inding lender approval) are satisfied.
Borrowing rates under the facility are determingadbir leverage ratio. The facility requires us taimtain two financial covenants, a leverage
ratio test and an interest coverage test, and we imecompliance with the covenants as of DecerBtheP013.

The facility backs up commercial paper and credé borrowings, and it expires on December 12, 20&7a result of the long-term nature of
this facility, the commercial paper and credit Im@rowings, as well as drawings under the facdity classified as long-term debt. At
December 31, 2013, we had available borrowing dgpat$267.5 million under this facility. We belie that the combination of cash,
available borrowing capacity and operating casw fiall provide sufficient funds to finance our etiigy operations for the foreseeable future.

Our total debt declined to $191.9 million at DecemB1, 2013 compared with $243.7 million at Decen@ig 2012, due to cash flows
generated in the U.S. As a result, our leveragmessured by the ratio of total debt to total @djziation, was 12.6 percent at the end of 2013
compared with 16.9 percent at the end of 2012.

Our U.S. pension plan continues to meet all fundaguirements under ERISA regulations. We weraequired to make a contribution to our
pension plan in 2013, and we did not make any \talyrcontributions. We are forecasting that theilebe no required contributions to the
plan in 2014, and we do not plan to make any valyntontributions. For further information on owngion plans, see Note 12 of the Notes tc
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In July, 2013, our board of directors approvedoglstepurchase program authorizing the purchasé aidditional 2,000,000 shares of our
common stock. In 2013, we repurchased 1,771,06@sl# an average price of $41.62 per share aatb#al cost of $73.7 million. At
December 31, 2013, a total of 1,152,776 sharesineth@n the existing repurchase authorization.

We have paid dividends for 74 consecutive yearks patyments increasing each of the last 22 yearspaiMktotal dividends of $.46 per share
2013 compared with $.36 per share in 2012.

Discontinued operations financial information isyided in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated FaialnfStatements.
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Aggregate Contractual Obligations

A summary of our contractual obligations as of Deber 31, 2013, is as follows:

(dollars in millions) Payments due by peric

Less Tha More thai

1-2 3-5

Contractual Obligatior Total 1 year Years Years 5 years
Long-term debt $191.¢ $ 14z $284 $149.. $ —
Fixed rate interes 7.C 2.¢ 3.3 0.8 —
Operating lease 27.¢ 8.1 9.5 5.2 5.1
Purchase obligatior 105.: 93.1 4.4 6.4 1.4
Pension and pc-retirement obligation 132.2 8.C 39.4 45.¢ 39.2
Total $464.¢ $ 126.2 $85.C $207.¢ $ 45.¢

As of December 31, 2013, our liability for uncent&come tax positions was $1.3 million. Due to liigh degree of uncertainty regarding
timing of potential future cash flows associatethvihese liabilities, we are unable to make a nealsly reliable estimate of the amount and
period in which these liabilities might be paid.

We utilize blanket purchase orders to communicapeeted annual requirements to many of our supgplRequirements under blanket
purchase orders generally do not become commitiébseveral weeks prior to our scheduled unit pigigbn. The purchase obligation amount
presented above represents the value of commitrtfeattsve consider firm.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2012, the Financial Accounting StandardafiqFASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (AZ012-02 Testing Indefinite-Lived
Intangible Assets for Impairme. ASU 2012-02 allows an entity to first assess itatate factors in determining whether events and
circumstances indicate that it is more-likely-thram that an indefinite-lived intangible asset ipaired. If an entity determines that it is not
more-likely-than not that the indefinite-lived in@ible asset is impaired, then the entity is nquieed to perform a quantitative impairment
test. ASU 2012-02 was effective for the year enddegember 31, 2013. The adoption of this ASU didhave an impact on our consolidated
financial condition, results of operations or célstws.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013@#nprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of AntwReclassified Out of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incc. ASU No. 2013-02 sets requirements for presemtdto significant items reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income to net isdameporting periods presented. ASU 2013-02 \if@etive prospectively beginning
with the quarter ended March 31, 2013. The adopifahis guidance did not have an impact on ouarfirial condition or results of operations
but required additional disclosure in the notesuofinancial statements. We complied with the ldisgre requirements of ASU 20102-for the
year ended December 31, 20

Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note Nates to Consolidated Financial Statements. Alstisdosed in Note 1, the preparation of
financial statements in conformity with accountprinciples generally accepted in the U.S. requinesuse of estimates and assumptions abol
future events that affect the amounts reportetiérfinancial statements and accompanying notesré&events and their effects cannot be
determined with absolute certainty. Therefore,darmination of estimates requires the exercigaedgfment. Actual results inevitably will
differ from those estimates, and such differencag bre material to the financial statements.

The most significant accounting estimates inheirettte preparation of our financial statementsudel estimates associated with the evalu:

of the impairment of goodwill and indefinite-livéatangible assets, as well as significant estimases! in the determination of liabilities
related to warranty activity, product liability, dpensions. Various assumptions and other factoterlie the determination of these significan
estimates. The process of determining significatitreates is fact-specific and takes into accouctbfa such as historical experience and
trends, and in some cases, actuarial techniquesndviéor these significant factors and adjustmanésmade when facts and circumstances
dictate. Historically, actual results have not #igantly deviated from those determined usingélémates described above.

Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

In conformity with U.S. GAAP, goodwill and indefietlived intangible assets are tested for impaitra@nually, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the sissight be impaired. We perform impairment revidé@arsour reporting units using a fanalue
method based on management’s judgments and assas\plihe fair value
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represents the estimated amount at which a regautiit could be bought or sold in a current tratisadbetween willing parties on an arms-
length basis. The estimated fair value is then @egbwith the carrying amount of the reporting umitluding recorded goodwill. We are
subject to financial statement risk to the extbat goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assbecome impaired. Any impairment review is,
by its nature, highly judgmental as estimates afriisales, earnings and cash flows are utilizetbtermine fair values. However, we believe
that we conduct annual thorough and competent tiahsaof goodwill and indefinite-lived intangiblesets and that there has been no
impairment in goodwill or indefinite-lived assets2013.

Product warranty

Our products carry warranties that generally rdng@ one to ten years and are based on termsthateaerally accepted in the market. We
provide for the estimated cost of product warrattthe time of sale. The product warranty provis®astimated based upon warranty loss
experience using actual historical failure rated estimated costs of product replacement. The basaused in the calculation of the provision
are reviewed on a periodic basis. At times, wayr&ggues may arise which are beyond the scoperdiistorical experience. We provide for
any such warranty issues as they become knownsiimdadle. While our warranty costs have histonchiten within calculated estimates, it is
possible that future warranty costs could diffgngicantly from those estimates. The allocatioriba warranty liability between current and
long-term is based on the expected warranty ligttiti be paid in the next year as determined biphtsal product failure rates.

Product liability

Due to the nature of our products, we are subgeptaduct liability claims in the normal coursebofsiness. We maintain insurance to reduce
our risk. Most insurance coverage includes selfiied retentions that vary by year. In 2013, we taamed a self-insured retention of $7.5
million per occurrence with an aggregate insurdimsit of $125.0 million per occurrence.

We establish product liability reserves for ourfge$ured retention portion of any known outstagdmatters based on the likelihood of loss
and our ability to reasonably estimate such lokerd@ is inherent uncertainty as to the eventualuéien of unsettled matters due to the
unpredictable nature of litigation. We make estesdiased on available information and our bestjeig after consultation with appropriate
advisors and experts. We periodically revise eggsmbased upon changes to facts or circumstanceslaf/ use an actuary to calculate res:
required for estimated incurred but not reportednet as well as to estimate the effect of adveeseldpment of claims over time. At
December 31, 2013 our reserve for product liabiigs $42.7 million.

Pensions

We have significant pension benefit costs thadereloped from actuarial valuations. The valuati@ilect key assumptions regarding, among
other things, discount rates, expected return an pksets, retirement ages, and years of senacsideration is given to current market
conditions, including changes in interest ratesiaking these assumptions. Our assumption for thea&d return on plan assets was 8.00
percent in 2013 compared to 8.50 percent in 20b2.discount rate used to determine net periodisiparcosts decreased to 4.05 percent in
2013 from 4.90 percent in 2012. For 2014, our etguereturn on plan assets is 7.75 percent andiscouht rate is 4.85 percent.

In developing our expected return on plan asseswaluate our pension plan’s current and targettadlocation, the expected long-term rate:
of return of equity and bond indices and the adbigtbrical returns of our pension plan. Our plaaiget allocation to equity managers is
approximately 50 percent, with the remainder aliedgrimarily to bond managers and a small allocetd private equity managers and real
estate managers. Our actual asset allocation@eagmber 31, 2013, was 53 percent to equity masagémpercent to bond managers, seven
percent to real estate managers, five percenttatprequity managers and the remainder in monekehastruments. We regularly review
actual asset allocation and periodically rebalangenvestments to our targeted allocation whersiw®red appropriate. Our pension plan’s
historical ten-year and 25-year compounded anreglieturns are 6.4 percent and 9.8 percent, régplgciWe believe that with our target
allocation and the expected long-term returns aiftggnd bond indices as well as our actual hisgbnieturns, our 7.75 percent expected retur
on plan assets for 2014 is reasonable.

The discount rate assumptions used to determinesfyiension obligations at December 31, 2013 ai@ #&re based on the AonHewitt AA
Only Above Median yield curve, which was designgddonHewitt to provide a means for plan sponsorgaioie the liabilities of their
postretirement benefit plans. The AA Only Above d@dcurve represents a series of annual discoteg feom bonds with AA minimum
average rating as rated by Moody’s Investor Serfhbeody’s), S&P and Fitch. We will continue to evate our actuarial assumptions at least
annually, and we will adjust the assumptions asssary.
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We estimate that we will recognize approximatel@.82million of pension expense in 2014 compare$®.9 million in 2013. Lowering the
expected return on plan assets by 25 basis pomttvincrease our net pension expense for 2014 pyoaimately $2.0 million. Lowering the
discount rate by 25 basis points would increase26a# net pension expense by approximately $1.komil

We provide non-GAAP measures (adjusted earningsstadl earnings per share, and adjusted segmerattimgeearnings) that exclude certain
items as well as non-operating pension costs dimgisf interest cost, expected return on plantassenortization of actuarial gains (losses)
and curtailments. We believe that these comporemension cost better reflect ongoing operatirigteel costs of providing pension benefits
to the company’s employees. In addition we haveendmdnges to our pension plan including closingotha to new entrants effective
January 1, 2010, and freezing the plan for the ritgjof our existing participants effective Janudry2015 which we believe will significantly
decrease pension expense beginning in 2015.

As such, we believe that the measures of adjustedrgys, adjusted earnings per share and adjustgdent operating earnings provide
management and investors with a useful measuraraderational results. We have prepared quarsertiyannual reconciliations of adjusted
earnings, adjusted earnings per share and adjsistgdent operating earnings for the years 2011-204i¢h have been provided in the
Supplemental Financial Data documents posted ifnthestor Relations section on our website in aoldito the following reconciliations.
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A. O. SMITH CORPORATION
Adjusted Earnings and Adjusted EPS
(dollars in millions, except per share data)
(unaudited)

The following is a reconciliation of earnings frantinuing operations and diluted continuing EP8djusted earnings (non-GAAP) and
adjusted EPS (non-GAAP):

Years ended December !

2013 2012 2011
Earnings from continuing operations (GAAP) $169.7 $162.¢  $111.:
Non-operating pension costs (income), before 19.7 6.€ (3.9
Tax effect of no-operating pension costs (incon (7.8 (2.6) 1.4
Restructuring and impairment expenses, befor: 22.C — —
Tax effect of restructuring and impairment exper (5.6 — —
Settlement income, before t (11.0 (3.9 (11.2)
Tax effect of settlement incon 4.2 1.C 4.4
Contingent consideration adjustment, before — (3.3 —
Tax effect of contingent consideration adjustr — 1.2 —
Net gain on shares of Regal Beloit Corporationlstad collar adjustments, before — (27.2) (19.9)
Tax effect of net gain on shares of Regal Beloitpdaation stock and collar adjustme — 10.4 7.7
Canadian component warranty expense, befor — — 8.2
Tax effect of Canadian component warranty expenskre tax — — (2.2
Lochinvar due diligence expense, before — — 5.k
Tax effect of Lochinvar due diligence expel — — (2.1
Adjusted Earnings $191.2  $145.1 $ 99.C
Diluted Continuing EPS (GAAP) $18: $1.78 $ 1.1¢
Non-operating pension costs (income) per diluted shmafare tay 0.21 0.07 (0.09
Tax effect of no-operating pension costs (income) per diluted s (0.0¢) (0.03) 0.01
Restructuring and impairment expenses per diluteges before ta 0.2z — —
Tax effect of restructuring and impairment expensarsdiluted shar (0.06 — —
Settlement income per diluted share, before (0.12) (0.0 (0.12)
Tax effect of settlement income per diluted st 0.0t 0.01 0.0t
Contingent consideration adjustment per dilutedeshzefore ta: — (0.0%) —
Tax effect of contingent consideration adjustmeartgiluted shar — 0.01 —
Net gain on shares of Regal Beloit Corporationlstoad collar adjustments per diluted share, befox — (0.29) (0.2
Tax effect of net gain on shares of Regal Beloitgdeation stock and collar adjustments per diligledre — 0.11 0.0¢
Canadian component warranty expense per diluted shefore ta: — — 0.0¢
Tax effect of Canadian component warranty expeesélituted shar — — (0.02)
Lochinvar due diligence expense per diluted sHagtgre tax — — 0.0¢
Tax effect of Lochinvar due diligence expense plited share — — (0.02)
Adjusted EPS $206 $15€ $ 1.0
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A. O. SMITH CORPORATION
Adjusted Segment Operating Earnings
(dollars in millions)
(unaudited)

The following is a reconciliation of segment opargtearnings to adjusted segment operating earriimgsGAAP):

Years ended December :

2013 2012 2011
Segment Operating Earnings (GAAP)

North America $211.¢  $199.t  $154.(

Rest of World 88.C 59.¢ 42.7

Inter-segment earnings eliminatis — — (0.2)
Total Segment Operating Earnings (GAAP) $299.¢  $259..  $196.t
Adjustments

North America $25¢ $ (28 $ 4.9

Rest of World — — —

Inter-segment earning — — —
Total Adjustments $256 $ (28 $ (4.9
Adjusted Segment Operating Earnings

North America $237.7 $197.C $149.C

Rest of World 88.C 59.€ 42.7

Inter-segment earnings eliminatis — — (0.2
Total Adjusted Segment Operating Earnings $325.7  $256.¢  $191.]

Additional information:

Years ended December :

2013 2012 2011
Adjustments: North America Segment
Non-operating pension costs (incon $146 $ 44 $ (1.9
Restructuring and impairment expen 22.C — —
Settlement incom (11.0 (3.9 (11.2)
Contingent consideration adjustm — (3.9 —
Canadian component warranty expe — — 8.2
Total North America Segment Adjustments $25.6 $ (2.8 $ (4.9

26



The following is a reconciliation of diluted eargsper share from continuing operations (GAAP)iteteld Adjusted EPS from continuing
operations (non-GAAP):

2014 Year Endec

Guidance 2013 2012 2011
Diluted EPS from continuing operations (GAAP) $2.01- $2.1¢ $ 1.8 $1.7¢ $1.1¢
Non-operating pension costs (income) per diluted sheeeof tax 0.14 0.1z 0.04 (0.09)

Restructuring and impairment expenses per dilutades net of ta — 0.17 — —
Settlement income per diluted share, net of — (0.07) (0.03) (0.09)

Gain on sale of RBC shares and collar adjustmendihged share,

net of tax — — (0.19) (0.19)

Contingent consideration adjustment per dilutedeshaet of ta — — (0.09 —
Canadian component warranty expense per dilutee shat of ta — — — 0.07
Lochinvar due diligence expense per diluted shatof tax — — — 0.04
Adjusted EPS from continuing operatic $2.15- $2.3C $ 2.0¢€ $ 1.5€ $1.07

Outlook

As we enter 2014, the year in which we celebrateld@t anniversary, we are cautiously optimistic. We hadian improving housing market
will provide additional opportunities for our Norkmerican residential water heating business, éiptacement market for commercial water
heaters will continue to be solid and the boilelustry will continue its transition from lower effency to higher efficiency products, which
benefit our boiler sales.

We anticipate our sales in China will grow at thterof approximately two times the rate of Chirggess domestic product growth, and the
added capacity from our new plant in Nanjing wilpport our growth. For 2014, we expect the impét¢tigher volumes and incremental
savings from our North American plant rationalipatactivities to be partially offset by approximgt®10 million of incremental costs
associated with the implementation of a new eniggesource planning system and a higher effetgic@me tax rate. Combining all these
factors, we expect to achieve full-year GAAP eagsinf between $2.01 and $2.16 per share and adjeataings of between $2.15 and $2.30
per share, neither of which includes the poteimtiglact from future acquisitions.

Strong performance in our North America segmer20h3 prompted us to update our 2015 aspirationsa6piration for organic sales for the
total company is over $2.5 billion by 2015, and G&AP earnings aspirations for our existing poitfaf businesses is now $2.50 per shar
2015 versus the previously disclosed $2.25 pereshar

OTHER MATTERS
Environmental

Our operations are governed by a number of fedfnadign, state, local and environmental laws comiog the generation and management of
hazardous materials, the discharge of pollutantstire environment and remediation of sites ownethb company or third parties. We have
expended financial and managerial resources complyith such laws. Expenditures related to envirental matters were not material in
2013 and are not expected to be material in arglesiyear. We have reserves associated with envieatahobligations at various facilities and
we believe these reserves are sufficient to ca@sanably anticipated remediation costs. Althougtbelieve that our operations are
substantially in compliance with such laws and ramprocedures designed to maintain complianeethre no assurances that substantial
additional costs for compliance will not be incutia the future. However, since the same laws goweer competitors, we should not be pla

at a competitive disadvantage.

Market Risk

We are exposed to various types of market risksaily currency. We monitor our risks in such aem a continuous basis and generally
enter into forward contracts to minimize such expes for periods of less than one year. We do mgage in speculation in our derivatives
strategies. Further discussion regarding derivatigguments is contained in Note 1 of Notes to €didated Financial Statements.
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We enter into foreign currency forward contractsiaimize the effect of fluctuating foreign currées. At December 31, 2013, we had net
foreign currency contracts outstanding of $99.8iaml Assuming a hypothetical ten percent movenieitihe respective currencies, the
potential foreign exchange gain or loss associaittthe change in rates would amount to $10.0iomllGains and losses from our forward
contract activities will be offset by gains anddes in the underlying transactions being hedged.

Our earnings exposure related to movements inasteates is primarily derived from outstandingflog-rate debt instruments that are
determined by short-term money market rates. Atedser 31, 2013, we had $132.5 million in outstagdioating-rate debt with a weighted-
average interest rate of 1.2 percent at year ergplthetical ten percent annual increase or deergsthe year-end average cost of our
outstanding floating-rate debt would result in amfpe in annual pre-tax interest expense of appieiyn $0.2 million.

Forward-Looking Statements

This filing contains statements that the comparliebes are “forward-looking statements” within imeaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statents generally can be identified by the use aflezsuch as “may,” “will,” “expect,”
“intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “facast,” “guidance” or words of similar meaning. sfhtements regarding 2015 aspirations are
forward looking statements. These forward-lookitegesnents are subject to risks and uncertaintagsctbuld cause actual results to differ
materially from those anticipated as of the datthisf filing. Important factors that could causéuat results to differ materially from these
expectations include, among other things, the fdhg: uncertain cost savings and timeframes astatiaith the implementation of the new
enterprises resources planning system; potentiakereng in the high efficiency boiler segment ia th.S.; the ability to execute our
acquisition strategy; significant volatility in ranvaterial prices; competitive pressures on the @mis businesses; inability to implement
pricing actions; instability in the company’s regment markets; strength or duration of any redesén U.S. residential or commercial
construction; a slowdown in the Chinese econonrgifm currency fluctuations; and adverse genemheaic conditions and capital market
deterioration. Forward-looking statements includethis filing are made only as of the date of ttakease, and the company is under no
obligation to update these statements to reflde$eguent events or circumstances. All subsequéttiemand oral forward-looking statements
attributed to the company, or persons acting ohetsalf, are qualified entirely by these cautionstatements.

ITEM 7A —QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK _ ET RISK

See “Market Risk” above.
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ITEM 8 —FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
A. O. Smith Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of A. O. Smith Corporation as of DecerBtheP013 and 2012, and the related
consolidated statements of earnings, comprehersivengs, stockholders’ equity and cash flows #arheof the three years in the period ende
December 31, 2013. Our audits also included thanfifal statement schedule listed in the indexea 115(a). These financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the company’aagament. Our responsibility is to express an opioin these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of A. O.
Smith Corporation at December 31, 2013 and 2012 tlz consolidated results of its operations asddsh flows for each of the three years it
the period ended December 31, 2013, in conformitly W.S. generally accepted accounting principhdso, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considerediatioa to the basic financial statements takenabale, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), A. O. Smith
Corporation’s internal control over financial refiog as of December 31, 2013, based on criterabéished in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@mgtions of the Treadway Commission (1992 franrkjvand our report dated
February 20, 2014 expressed an unqualified opitfiereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 20, 2014
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 (dollars in millions)

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie
Receivable!
Inventories
Deferred income taxe
Other current asse
Total Current Assets
Net property, plant and equipme
Goodwill
Other intangible:
Other asset

Total Assets
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade payable
Accrued payroll and benefi
Accrued liabilities
Product warrantie
Long-term debt due within one ye
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term debi
Deferred income taxe
Product warrantie
Pos-retirement benefit obligatio
Pension liabilities
Other liabilities
Total Liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders Equity
Preferred Stoc
Class A Common Stock (shares issued 13,288,518 3,309,876
Common Stock (shares issued 82,065,280 and 8248}
Capital in excess of par vali
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive |i
Treasury stock at co
Total Stockholders’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.
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2013 2012
$ 3807 $ 266.¢
105.: 196.
4587 425.¢
193. 163.4
40.1 33.2
27.4 29.7
1,205. 1,114
391.2 3457
433 435.2
324.¢ 338.7
36.: 44.4
$2,391.f  $2,278.¢
$ 3871 $ 328
61.7 46.
81.: 69.1
46.7 432
14.2 18.€
590.¢ 506.:
177.7 225.1
21. 6.2
89.¢ 86.
10.C 10.€
110.7 190.1
62.6 59.¢
1,062  1,084.
66. 66.€
82.1 82.
589.7 580.F
982.: 855.1
(259.)  (320.)
(132.6) (69.6)
1,328,  1,194.
$2,391.f  $2,278.¢




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions, ekpep share amounts)

Continuing Operations
Net sales
Cost of products sol
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Restructuring, impairment and settlement experisesrfie)- net
Contingent consideration adjustm
Interest expens
Other income- net
Earnings before provision for income ta:
Provision for income taxe
Earnings from Continuing Operations
Discontinued Operations
Earnings from discontinued operations, less prowi$br income taxes of $15.5 in 20
(Loss)gain on sale of discontinued EPC operatiless, tax provision of $6.3 in 2012 and $145.€
2011
Net Earnings

Net Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock
Continuing operation
Discontinued operatior

Net Earnings
Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Common Sok

Continuing operation
Discontinued operatior

Net Earnings

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)

Net Earnings
Other comprehensive earnings (lc
Foreign currency translation adjustme

Unrealized net gain (loss) on cash flow derivathstruments, less related income tax (provisiometiie

of $(0.2) in 2013, $(0.6) in 2012 and $7.0 in 2
Change in pension liability less related income(faovision) benefit of $(39.7) in 2013, $13.6 12
and $34.8 in 201

Unrealized (loss) gain on investments less relateome tax benefit (provision) of $0.7 in 2012 and

$(0.7) in 2011
Comprehensive Earning

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.
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2013 2012 2011
$2,153.¢ $1,939.  $1,710.
1,380.(  1287.  1,197.
773.¢ 652.( 512.¢
524.F 450 372.¢
11.C (3.9 (11.9)
— (3.9) —
5.7 9.2 9.2
(3.9) (34.9) (19.9)
236. 233.€ 161
66.7 71.2 50.%
169.7 162.¢ 111
— — 43.(
— (3.9 151.F

$ 1697 $ 1587 $ 305.1
$ 18 $ 176 $ 1.2C
— (0.09) 2.11

$ 18 $ 17: $ 3.31
$ 18 $ 178 $ 1.1¢
— (0.09) 2.0¢

$ 18 $ 171 $ 3.2¢
2013 2012 2011
$169.; $158.. $305.;
0.4 3. (7.2)

0.2 1.0 (11.0

60.7 (224  (54.F)

— (1.9) 1.2
$231.1 $139.] $234.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)

Operating Activities
Net earning:
Loss (earnings) from discontinued operati
Adjustments to reconcile earnings from continuipgmtions to cash provided by operating activil
Depreciation and amortizatic
Pension expens
Loss on disposal of asst
Unrealized gain on investme
Net changes in operating assets and liabilitiesphacquisitions
Current assets and liabiliti
Noncurrent assets and liabiliti

Cash Provided by Operating Activities— continuing operations
Cash Used in Operating Activities— discontinued operations
Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Investing Activities

Acquisitions of businesst

Investments in marketable securit

Proceeds from sale of marketable secur

Capital expenditure

Cash Used in Investing Activities continuing operations
Cash Provided by Investing Activities— discontinued operations
Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activitie:

Financing Activities

Long-term debt incurre:

Long-term debt repai

Common stock repurchas

Net proceeds from stock option activ

Dividends paic

Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis

Cash and cash equivale-beginning of yea

Cash and Cash Equivalent-End of Year

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.

32

2013 2012 2011
$169.7 $158.7 $305.7
— 3. (194.5)
59.7 54.¢ 47.(
27.¢ 13. 3.2
0.2 1.1 1.
— (279  (19.9
20.F (36.6) 0.
4.2 3.E (81.6)
282.. 171.¢ 61.€
(2.6 _ (28.0 (2.9
279.€ 143.€ 58.7
(4.0 (135  (421.)
(132.7) (311 —
226.: 308.( —
(97.) _ (69.9 _ (53.5)
(82  (86.5  (474.6
— — 600.:
(82  (86.5  125¢
— — 200.:
(515  (218.9 —
(739 (22.0 (23
10.2 20.F 11.2
(42.6 (330 _ (27.)
(157.6 (2535  160.C
1136 (196.F)  344F
266.¢ 463.2 118.¢
$380.7 $266.¢ $463.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)

Class A Common Stock

Balance at the beginning of the y:
Conversion of Class A Common Stc
Balance at the end of the y¢

Common Stock

Balance at the beginning of the y:
Conversion of Class A Common Stc
Balance at the end of the ye

Capital in Excess of Par Value

Balance at the beginning of the y:
Conversion of Class A Common Stc
Issuance of share un

Vesting of share unil

Stock based compensation expe
Exercises of stock optiot

Tax benefit from exercises of stock options andimgf share unit
Stock incentives and direct’ compensatiol
Balance at the end of the y¢

Retained Earnings

Balance at the beginning of the y:

Net earning:

Cash dividends on stou

Balance at the end of the y¢
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Los:
Balance at the beginning of the y:
Foreign currency translation adjustme

Unrealized net gain (loss) on cash flow derivathatruments, less related income tax (provisiomyetie

of $(0.2) in 2013, $(0.6) in 2012 and $7.0 in 2

Change in pension liability less related income(taovision) benefit of $(39.7) in 2013, $13.6 012

and $34.8 in 201

Unrealized (loss) gain on investments less relatenme tax benefit (provision) of $0.7 in 2012 and

$(0.7) in 2011
Balance at the end of the ye

Treasury Stock
Balance at the beginning of the y:

Exercise of stock options, net of 29,126 and 33l &iares surrendered as proceeds and to pay tax

2013 and 201
Stock incentives and direct’ compensatiol
Shares repurchas:
Vesting of share unit

Balance at the end of the ye
Total Stockholders’ Equity

See accompanying notes which are an integral panese statements

33

2013 2012 2011
$ 665 $ 72E $ 74f
(0.2) (6.0) 2.9

$ 664 $ 66E $ 72F
$ 821 $ 80¢ $ 80
— 1.2 0.

$ 821 $ 821 $ 80f
$ 580f $ 575.f $ 578.]
0.1 4.8 1.
(5.1) (3.9 (3.7)
(3.0 (4.9) (8.2)
9.8 6. 6.7
(3.0 (11.9 (7.5)
4.8 8. 4.2

5.6 4E 4.2

$ 5807 $ 580%f § 575.
$ 8551 $ 7298 $ 452.]
169.7 158.7 305.7
(42.6) (33.5) (27.9

$ 9822 $ 8550 § 729.¢
$ (3205 $(300.9 $(229.9)
0.4 3.C (7.2)
0.3 1. (11.0
60.7 (22.2) (54.5)
— (1.2) 1.2
$(259.) $(320.F) $ (300.9
$ (69.6 $ (729 $ (749
7.5 19.7 15.2

0.2 0.2 0.4
(73.7) (22.0 (23.5)
3.C 4. 10.C
$(1326 $ (69.6 $ (729
$1,328. $1,194. $1,085.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization. A. O. Smith Corporation (A. O. Smith or the compjpisya manufacturer of water heaters and boilenw,isg a diverse mix of
residential and commercial end markets principiallthe United States with a strong and growingrimagional presence. The company is
comprised of two reporting segments: North Amedand Rest of World. The Rest of World segment imprily comprised of China, Europe,
India and the Middle East. Both segments manufaciad market comprehensive lines of residential g@stankless and electric water hee
and commercial water heating equipment. Both setgrgimarily serve their respective regions ofwald. The North America segment also
manufactures and markets specialty commercial wegating equipment, condensing and non-condengiibgr® and water system tanks. The
Rest of World segment also manufactures and mavkages treatment products, primarily in Asia.

On August 22, 2011, the company sold its Electialducts business (EPC) to Regal Beloit CorpangiRBC) for approximately $760
million in cash and approximately 2.83 million shsiof RBC common stock. Due to the sale, EPC has teported separately as a
discontinued operation. See Note 2 Discontinuedr@joms.

Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include tomants of the company and its wholly owned subsigs$ after elimination
of intercompany transactions.

Except when otherwise indicated, amounts reflettele financial statements or the notes therdaiedo the company’s continuing
operations.

Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements in camity with accounting principles generally accepitethe United States
(U.S.) requires management to make estimates audngsions that affect the amounts reported in deempanying financial statements and
notes. Actual results could differ from those esties.

Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalentsketenle securities, receivables, floating rate ceiot
trade payables approximated fair value as of Deeer®b, 2013 and 2012, due to the short maturitidseequent rate resets of these
instruments. The fair value of term notes with magice companies was approximately $63.8 millioofddecember 31, 2013 compared with
the carrying amount of $59.4 million for the sanated The fair value is estimated based on curegasoffered for debt with similar maturiti

Foreign currency translation. For all subsidiaries outside the U.S., with theepton of its Mexican operation and its Dutch ngexating
companies, the company uses the local currendyeafsihctional currency. For those operations uaifignctional currency other than the U.S.
dollar, assets and liabilities are translated W8. dollars at year-end exchange rates, and regemud expenses are translated at weighted-
average exchange rates. The resulting translatiustanents are recorded as a separate componstocgholders’ equity. The Mexican
operation and the Dutch non-operating companieshes®.S. dollar as the functional currency. Gaind losses from foreign currency
transactions are included in net earnings and wetsignificant in 2013, 2012 or 2011.

Cash and cash equivalentsThe company considers all highly liquid investisenith a maturity of three months or less wherchased to be
cash equivalents.

Marketable securities. The company considers all highly liquid investitsemith maturities greater than 90 days when puetido be
marketable securities. At December 31, 2013, tmepamy’s marketable securities consisted of bank tleposits with original maturities
ranging from 180 days to 12 months and are locatéavestment grade rated banks in China.

Inventory valuation. Inventories are carried at lower of cost or markatst is determined on the last-in, first-out (L)A®ethod for a majority
of the company’s domestic inventories, which cosg62 percent and 64 percent of the company’sitotahtory at December 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively. Inventories of foreign subsiés, the remaining domestic inventories and seppire determined using the first-in, fiostt
(FIFO) method.

Property, plant and equipment.Property, plant and equipment are stated at cagird2iation is computed primarily by the
straight-line method. The estimated service livesduto compute depreciation are generally 25 tpeads for buildings, three to 20 years for
equipment and three to ten years for software. dasnce and repair costs are expensed as incurred.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policiegcontinued)

Goodwill and other intangibles.Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets amt amortized but are reviewed for impairment on a
annual basis. Separable intangible assets, prim@thprised of customer relationships, that aredeemed to have an indefinite life are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their eatad useful lives which range from ten to 25 years.

Impairment of long-lived and amortizable intangible assetsProperty, plant and equipment and intangible assgigct to amortization are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or chaimgegcumstances indicate that the carrying amaouogny not be recoverable. If the sum of
the expected undiscounted cash flows is less thenarrying value of the related asset or groussséts, a loss is recognized for the differenc
between the fair value and carrying value of theeter group of assets. Such analyses necessafiiye significant judgment.

Derivative instruments. Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 8DBrivatives and Hedgingas amended, requires that all derivative
instruments be recorded on the balance sheetrataflaie and establishes criteria for designatiah effectiveness of the hedging relationships.
The accounting for changes in the fair value oéavétive instrument depends on whether it has esignated and qualifies as a part of a
hedging relationship and, further, on the typeeadding relationship. For those derivative instrutaehat are designated and qualify as hed
instruments, the company must designate the hediggigiment, based upon the exposure hedged,as\afue hedge, cash flow hedge, or a
hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation.

The company designates that all of its hedgingunsénts, except for its equity collar contract tiegto shares of RBC common stock, are
cash flow hedges. For derivative instruments thadasignated and qualify as a cash flow hedge lfieelging the exposure to variability in
expected future cash flows that is attributabla fmarticular risk), the effective portion of thdrgar loss on the derivative instrument is repo
as a component of other comprehensive loss, rtakpand is reclassified into earnings in the singeitem associated with the forecasted
transaction and in the same period or periods dusinich the hedged transaction affects earnings.arhount by which the cumulative change
in the value of the hedge more than offsets theutative change in the value of the hedged item, the ineffective portion) is recorded in
earnings, net of tax, in the period the ineffeat®®s occurs.

The company utilizes certain derivative instrumeaatenhance its ability to manage currency expoasmell as raw materials price risk. The
company had previously utilized a derivative instamt to manage equity investment volatility. Defivainstruments are entered into for
periods consistent with the related underlying expes and do not constitute positions independehbse exposures. The company does not
enter into contracts for speculative purposes.clmgracts are executed with major financial insititus with no credit loss anticipated for
failure of the counterparties to perform.

Foreign Currency Forward Contrac

The company is exposed to foreign currency exchasges a result of transactions in currenciegiothan the functional currency of certain
subsidiaries. The company utilizes foreign currefocward purchase and sale contracts to manageothélity associated with foreign
currency purchases, sales and certain intercomgpangactions in the normal course of businessckahcurrencies for which the company
utilizes foreign currency forward contracts inclutle Canadian dollar, Euro and Mexican peso.

Gains and losses on these instruments are recordedumulated other comprehensive loss, net ofulatd the underlying transaction is
recorded in earnings. When the hedged item iszesdligains or losses are reclassified from accuedilsther comprehensive loss to the
statement of earnings. The assessment of effeetdeeior forward contracts is based on changesifotivard rates. These hedges have been
determined to be effective.

The majority of the amounts in accumulated othenm@hensive loss for cash flow hedges is expectéa reclassified into earnings within
one year and all of the hedges will be reclassifiéal earnings no later than December 2015. Cotstratated to the company’s discontinued
operation that were to expire after the expectedicl) date of the sale of EPC no longer qualif@dhedge accounting; therefore, the chang
valuation from the announcement of the sale of EPRugust 22, 2011 of $3.2 million was recorde@amnings from discontinued operations
in the year ended December 31, 2011.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policiegcontinued)

The following table summarizes, by currency, theteactual amounts of the company’s foreign curreiocyard contracts:

2013 2012
December 31 (dollars in millior Buy Sell Buy Sell
British pound $— $14 $— $ 2.3
Canadian dolla — 72.7 — 36.¢
Euro 9.1 1.7 23.2 2.C
Mexican pes( 14.€ — 12.2 —
Total $23.7 $75.€ $35.5 $41.1

Commodity Futures Contracts

In addition to entering into supply arrangementthimnormal course of business, the company, piliyrfar its discontinued operation prior to
disposition, also entered into futures contractixtthe cost of certain raw material purchases)gypally copper and aluminum, with the
objective of minimizing changes in cost due to nearkrice fluctuations. The hedging strategy forieimg this objective is to purchase
commodities futures contracts on the open mark#éief.ondon Metals Exchange (LME) or over the ceunbntracts based on the LME.

With one of its brokers, the company is requirethtike cash deposits on unrealized losses on conyra®tivative contracts that exceed $1
million.

The minimal after-tax gain of the effective portiofithe contracts as of December 31, 2013 was dedon accumulated other comprehensive
loss and will be reclassified into cost of prodwgaid in the period in which the underlying trangatis recorded in earnings. The effective
portion of the contracts will be reclassified witline year. Contracts related to the company’'distued operation that expired after the
expected closing date of the sale of EPC no loggalified for hedge accounting; therefore, the ¢fgaim valuation from the announcement of
the sale to August 22, 2011 which was minimal aad vecorded in earnings from discontinued operstiothe year ended December 31,
2011. Commodity hedges outstanding at Decembe2(®I13 total approximately 0.1 million pounds of cepp

Equity Collar Contrac

As discussed in Note 2, on August 22, 2011, thepaomy sold EPC to RBC and received approximatel@ ghlion shares of RBC common
stock. The RBC share price appreciated in 201Indusihich the company entered into an equity caltatract for 50 percent of the RBC
shares to protect a portion of that appreciatidre put strike price of the equity collar was $63a28@ the call strike price of the collar was
$77.32. The RBC share price on December 31, 2051%3%@.97. The collar did not qualify for hedge agting and therefore was adjusted to
fair value on a quarterly basis through earningmfcontinuing operations. The mark to market actingrfor the RBC shares and hedge
continued until the equity collar contract expiredMarch 2012 with no value.

The impact of derivative contracts on the compafipancial statements is as follows:

Fair value of derivative instruments designatetexdging instruments under ASC 815 in continuingragens:

Fair Value
December 31 (dollars in millior Balance Sheet Locatic 2013 2012
Foreign currency contracts Other current ass¢ $1.¢ $1.7
Accrued liabilities (0.9 (0.5
Total derivatives designated as hedging instrum $1.7 $1.2
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policiegcontinued)

The effect of derivative instruments on the Statetnoé Earnings for continuing operations.

Year ended December 31 (dollars in millions)

Derivatives in
ASC 815 cash
flow hedging

relationships

Foreign currency contracts

Commodities contracts

Derivatives not designated as a hed¢
instrument under ASC 81

Equity collar contract

Amount of gair
(loss) recognized

Location of

gain (loss)

reclassified
from

Accumulated Amount of gair
Other (loss) reclassified Location of Amount of gair
Comprehensiv  from Accumulated  gain recognize recognized in

in other Loss into Other in earnings on earnings on a
comprehensive earnings Comprehensive derivative derivative
loss on derivative (effective Loss into earnings (ineffective (ineffective
(effective portion’ portion) (effective portion’ portion) portion)
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Cost of
$ 31 $ 0.7 productssol $ 2.6 $ (0.7 N/A $—  $—
Cost of Cost of
— (0.1) products sol 0.7) (0.1) products sol _— —
$ 31 $ 0.6 $ 25 $(0.9 $—  $—

Location of loss recognized in earni

from continuing operations on

derivative

Amount of loss recognized
earnings from continuing
operations on derivativ

Other expens- net
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policiegcontinued)

Fair Value Measurements ASC 820Fair Value Measurementsamong other things, defines fair value, estabBsh consistent framework for
measuring fair value and expands disclosure fon e@@jor asset and liability category measurediavfdue on either a recurring basis or
nonrecurring basis. ASC 820 clarifies that fairnals an exit price, representing the amount tlatlevbe received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction beem market participants. As such, fair value isaaket-based measurement that should be
determined based on assumptions that market pesits would use in pricing an asset or liabilitg. @basis for considering such assumption:
ASC 820 establishes a three-tier fair value higngravhich prioritizes the inputs used in measufaigvalue as follows: (Level 1) observable
inputs such as quoted prices in active marketsigL2) inputs, other than the quoted prices invaatarkets, that are observable either directl
or indirectly; and (Level 3) unobservable inputsvnich there is little or no market data, whichuieg the reporting entity to develop its own
assumptions.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value aseld on the market approach which are prices dmed p#levant information generated by
market transactions involving identical or compégassets or liabilities.

Continuing assets measured at fair value on aniegupasis are as follows (dollars in millions):

Fair Value Measurement Usi December 31, 20: December 31, 20:
Quoted prices in active markets for identical asse
(Level 1) $ 107.C $ 197.2

There were no changes in the valuation technigsed to measure fair values on a recurring basis.

Revenue recognitionThe company recognizes revenue upon transfer@fwhich occurs upon shipment of the product todhstomer
except for certain export sales where transfeitlefaccurs when the product reaches the customsirdtion.

Contracts and customer purchase orders are uskrledomine the existence of a sales arrangemengpiagidocuments are used to verify
shipment. The company assesses whether the sptlz®is fixed or determinable based upon the payreems associated with the transac
and whether the sales price is subject to refuratprstment. The company assesses collectabilégdan the creditworthiness of the custo
as determined by credit checks and analysis, dsagéhe customes’payment history and does not require collatenadades in most cases. -
allowance for doubtful accounts was $2.8 milliornl &4.2 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, retbyedy.

Reserves for customer returns for defective prodtetbased on historical experience with similaesyof sales. Accruals for rebates and
incentives are based on pricing agreements aniikar&o sales volume. Changes in such accrualsbheagquired if future returns differ from
historical experience or if actual sales voluméeds from estimated sales volume. Rebates andfinesrare recognized as a reduction of si

Shipping and handling costs billed to customerdrariided in net sales and the related costs atedad in cost of products sold.

Advertising. The majority of advertising costs are charged terafions as incurred and amounted to $78.0 milB&9,2 million and $58.9
million during 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectivehcliided in total advertising costs are expensescaged with store displays for A. O. Smith
branded products in China that are amortized 02eo 24 months which totaled $17.9 million, $15.8ion and $13.1 million during 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively.

Research and developmenResearch and development costs are charged tatiopsras incurred and amounted to $57.8 millior,.$5
million and $42.7 million during 2013, 2012 and 20tespectively.

Product warranties. The company’s products carry warranties that gdigei@nge from one to ten years and are basedramstthat are
generally accepted in the market. The company dscalliability for the expected cost of warrantjated claims at the time of sale. The
allocation of the warranty liability between curt@md long-term is based on expected warranty slainbe paid in the next year as determine
by historical product failure rates.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policiegcontinued)

The following table presents the company’s produatranty liability activity in 2013 and 2012:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2013 2012

Balance at beginning of year $129.¢ $131.¢
Expense 68.C 54.1
Claims settlec (61.0 (56.9)
Balance at end of ye: $136.€ $129.¢

Environmental costs.The company accrues for costs associated with @mwviental obligations when such costs are probatdeeasonably
estimable. Costs of estimated future expendituresiat discounted to their present value. Recosa@ienvironmental costs from other parties
are recorded as assets when their receipt is caesigorobable. The accruals are adjusted as fadtsiacumstances change.

Stock-based compensationThe company follows ASC 718ompensation - Stock Compensati@ompensation cost is recognized using the
straight-line method over the vesting period ofdlerd. ASC 718 also requires the benefits of &dudtions in excess of recognized
compensation cost to be reported as a financiny ftas, rather than as an operating cash flow gsired under prior literature. Excess tax
deductions of $4.8 million, $8.8 million and $4.3lian were recognized as cash flows provided Imaficing activities in 2013, 2012 and 2(
respectively.

Earnings per share of common stockThe company is not required to use the two-clagbaoakeof calculating earnings per share since its
Class A Common Stock and Common Stock have equigettid rights. The numerator for the calculatiomasic and diluted earnings per
share is net earnings. The following table setthftre computation of basic and diluted weightedrage shares used in the earnings per shal
calculations:

2013 2012 2011
Denominator for basic earnings per share - weightestage shares
outstanding 92,118,15 92,395,21 92,238,06
Effect of dilutive stock options, restricted staakd share unit 669,51 712,90¢ 911,17.
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 92,787,67 93,108,12 93,149,23

On April 15, 2013, the company’s stockholders apptba proposal to increase the company’s authoshades of Common Stock and the
company’s board of directors declared a two-for-steek split of the company’s Class A Common Stae# Common Stock (including
treasury shares) in the form of a 100 percent stiddklend to stockholders of record on April 30130and payable on May 15, 2013. All
references in the financial statements and foosnimi¢he number of shares outstanding, price paesiper share amounts and stock based
compensation data have been recast to reflecpthidéas all periods presented.

Reclassifications Certain amounts from prior years have been refledsb conform with current year presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2012, the Financial Accounting StandardaffidFASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (AZ1R-02,Testing Indefinite-Lived
Intangible Assets for Impairme. ASU 2012-02 allows an entity to first assess itatate factors in determining whether events and
circumstances indicate that it is more-likely-thram that an indefinite-lived intangible asset ipaired. If an entity determines that it is not
more-likely-than not that the indefinite-lived infgible asset is impaired, then the entity is nquieed to perform a quantitative impairment
test. ASU 2012-02 was effective for the year enddegember 31, 2013. The adoption of this ASU didhave an impact on the company’s
consolidated financial condition, results of opienat or cash flows.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013@2nprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of AntwReclassified Out of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incc. ASU 2013-02 sets requirements for presentatiositmificant items reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income to net idameporting periods presented. ASU 2013-02 \ff@stive prospectively beginning
with the quarter ended March 31, 2013. The adopifahis guidance did not have an impact on thepgamy’s financial condition or results of
operations but required additional disclosure rbtes to the company’s financial statements.cbnepany complied with the disclosure
requirements of ASU 2013-02 for the year ended Brses 31, 2013.
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2. Discontinued Operations

On August 22, 2011, the company completed thedfdi#C to RBC for $759.9 million in cash and apjpmwately 2.83 million shares of RBC
common stock. Included in the $759.9 million offtésa final working capital adjustment of $7.41roit which was paid to the company by
RBC in January 2012. The value of the RBC shareb@emulate of the closing of the sale was $140.6anilSee Note 13 for further discussion
regarding the company’s investment in RBC stockQt2, the company paid $31.2 million in incomeetand $3.6 million of other sale
related payments. In 2011, the company paid $12@I®n in income taxes and $21.4 million in comsi@ns and other sale related payments

Included in the 2011 gain on sale of EPC was aitiaddl income tax accrual due to the company’®d&m that certain foreign earnings
derived from the sale of EPC were not considerethprently reinvested by the company. The accruatisided in long term deferred income
taxes in continuing operations. Also included ia #9011 gain on sale is a $10.9 million gain relatecumulative translation adjustments
associated with EPC's foreign subsidiaries. Inftheth quarter of 2012, the company recorded expen$3.9 million on the gain on sale of
EPC. Included in 2012 was $6.4 million of expereggresenting the correction of an error primarilg doi the company’s calculation of taxes
due upon repatriation of undistributed foreign @gs. The correction was not material to any presip reported financial period or to the y
ended December 31, 2012 and as a result has heentedt as the correction of the error in the yealee December 31, 2012. This correction
was offset by a change in estimate related to gdsmTves associated with EPC of $2.5 million.

The results of EPC have been reported separatelisesntinued operations.
The condensed statement of earnings of discontiEt] operations is:

Year ended December 31 (dollars in millic

2011

Net sales $531.¢
Cost of products sol 415.¢
Gross profit 116.2
Selling, general and administrative exper 61.t
Interest expens 2.2
Other income- net (6.0)

58.t
Provision for income taxe 15.F
Net earning: $ 43.C
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2. Discontinued Operations (continued)

Consolidated interest expense not directly attablé to other operations was allocated to discaptifEPC operations based on the ratio of
EPC net assets to be sold to the sum of consalidegteassets plus consolidated debt not diredifjpatable to other operations.

The cash flows (used in) provided by discontinu®Cperations is as follows:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic

2013 2012 2011
Operating Activities
(Loss) earning $— $ (3.9 $ 43.C
Adjustments to reconcile earnings to net cash pexvby discontinued operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic — — 16.5
Gain on sale of asse — — (4.9
Net changes in operating assets and liabil
Current assets and liabiliti (1.0 (22.6) (56.9)
Noncurrent assets and liabiliti (0.5 (0.9 0.¢
Other — — (1.7)
Cash Used in Discontinued Operating Activitie: (1.5 (27.9 (2.3
Investing Activities
Capital expenditure — — (10.5
Proceeds on sale of ass — — 6.1
Proceeds from sale of operatic — — 752.k
Payments associated with s — — (147.9)
Cash Provided by Discontinued Investing Activities — — 600.z
Cash (Used in) Provided by Discontinued Operation $(1.5) $(27.4) $ 597.¢

In the second quarter of 2011, the company softidity in China and recognized a gain of $4.8 ol

3. Acquisitions

On February 14, 2013, the company acquired 10Gepeaf the shares of MiM Isitma Sogutma Havalandinre Aritma Sistemleri San. Tic.
A.S. (MiM), a privately-held Turkish water treatmierompany. The addition of MiM expanded the compapyoduct offerings and gives the
company access to Eastern Europe and the Blacke§em water treatment markets. MiM is includedhia Rest of World segment.

The company paid an aggregate cash purchase pi$geGmillion, net of cash received of $1.9 millidn addition the company assumed deb
of $1.7 million and recorded contingent consideratf $1.1 million the fair value of the continggratyment due to the former owners of MiM
if certain targets met for growth in sales, grossfits and operating profits through 2017.

The fair value of the purchase price resulted imléotation to acquired intangible assets totadd million of which $2.4 million has been
assigned to customer lists which are being amattixeer ten years.

MiM'’s results of operations have been includedhi@ tompanys financial statements from February 14, 2013gdtte of acquisition. Revenu
and pre-tax results associated with MiM includedesults of operations for the year ended DecerdbgP013 are not material to the
company’s net sales or pre-tax earnings.
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3. Acquisitions (continued)

On August 26, 2011, the company acquired 100 peafehe shares of Lochinvar Corporation (Lochinyarprivately held manufacturer of
high-efficiency boilers used in commercial and desitial applications located in Lebanon, TennesBee.addition of Lochinvar expanded the
company’s product offerings and gave the compargsto proven high-efficiency boiler technologppfoximately 40 percent of Lochinvar-
branded sales consist of residential and commaeneitdr heaters while the remaining 60 percent ahirvarbranded sales consist primarily
boilers and related parts. Results from Lochinvariacluded in the North America segment exceptétatively immaterial amounts from a
Lochinvar subsidiary in the United Kingdom whichnsthe company’s Rest of World segment.

The company paid an aggregate cash purchase peicef $1.5 million of cash acquired, of $421.1lmil. In addition, the company incurred
acquisition costs of approximately $5.5 million.dém the purchase agreement for the Lochinvar aitiguisthe company agreed to make a
contingent payment of up to an additional $35.0Qiamlin cash based on the amount by which Lochirsedes between December 1, 2011 and
November 30, 2012 exceed $216.0 million. As ofabguisition date and December 31, 2011, the fdirevaf the contingent payment had b
estimated at $16.8 million. In December 2012, ihatingent payment totaling $13.5 million was maal¢he former owners of Lochinvar. The
contingent consideration adjustment of $3.3 milleas recognized as pre-tax earnings in 2012.

The following table summarizes the allocation df f@lue of the assets acquired and liabilitiesiassd at the date of acquisition. Of the $2¢
million of acquired intangible assets, $103.5 roillivas assigned to tradenames that are not stbjentortization and $152.5 million was
assigned to customer lists which are being amattizeer 19 years, and the remaining $2.3 million essigned to nonempete agreements ¢
patents which are being amortized over ten years.

August 26, 2011 (dollars in millior

Current assets, net of cash acqu $ 54.C
Property, plant and equipme 41.¢
Intangible asset 258.:
Other asset 0.1
Goodwill 111.4

Total assets acquire 465.7
Current liabilities 24.:
Long-term liabilities 3.5

Total liabilities assume 27.¢

Net assets acquire $437.¢

For income tax purposes, the transaction was ateddar as an asset purchase, resulting in theafount of goodwill and intangible assets,
totaling $369.7 million, being deductible for incertax purposes.

Lochinvar’s results of operations have been inadllidethe company’s financial statements from Aud@&t2011, the date of acquisition.
Revenues and pre-tax earnings associated with heghincluded in operations from the acquisitiotedarough December 2011 totaled $75.¢
million and $5.6 million, respectively which incled $13.0 million of operating earnings less $5.Bioni of acquisition costs included in
selling, general and administrative expenses ar@liillion of interest expense.

The proforma unaudited results of operations fentbar ended December 31, 2011, assuming consuomudtihe purchase as of January
2011, would result in diluted earnings per shapenfcontinuing operations of $1.32.

4. Restructuring, Impairment and Settlement Income

On March 28, 2013, the company announced the mbrenufacturing operations from its Fergus, Ontéaiwlity to other North American
facilities. In 2013, the company recognized $22illian of pre-tax restructuring and impairment erpes, comprised of impairment charges
related to long-lived assets totaling $9.2 millisayerance costs of $7.5 million, equipment relooatosts of $2.9 million and inventory
obsolescence costs totaling $2.4 million, as wek &@orresponding $5.6 million income tax benefiated to the expenses all related to this
move. The majority of the consolidation of operasimccurred in the second quarter of 2013.
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4. Restructuring, Impairment and Settlement Income(continued)

On March 11, 2013, the company entered into aesettht agreement with a former supplier of a Nonthefican subsidiary regarding previous
overcharges and warranty costs. The terms of titlersent agreement resulted in an $11.0 milliorhgasyment to the company, a pre-tax gair
of $11.0 million and $4.2 million income tax expeas

On November 15, 2012, the company entered intdtizisent agreement with a supplier of the compa@gdsadian operations. In 2012, the
company recorded a ptax gain of $3.9 million relating to the settlement2011, the company recorded an $8.2 millionrauaty provision fo
future costs associated with this issue.

On May 5, 2011, the company entered into a setimgreement with a supplier of the company’s @grations. Under the terms of the
settlement agreement, the vendor and the vendapislier made a $35.5 million cash payment to themany. The settlement reimbursed the
company for past costs previously incurred andgadi in full a receivable recorded by the compamd the company increased its warranty
reserve for future costs associated with the affecomponents on company products by $7.5 millio2011, the company recorded a pre-tax
gain of $11.2 million for the reimbursement of tethcosts incurred in prior years.

The restructuring impairment and settlement incatévities are included in the company’s North Aroarsegment.

The following table presents an analysis of the gany’s restructuring, impairment and settlemenémess as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 (dollars in millions):

Severanc Equipmen Settlemer
Inventory Asset
Obsolescenc Costs Impairmen Relocatiot Income Total
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $—
Income recognize — — — — (3.9 (3.9
Cash receipt — — — — 3.9 3.6
Balance at December 31, 20 — — — — — —
Expense (income) recogniz 2.4 7.5 9.2 2.¢ (11.0 11.C
Asset writ-down (0.7) — (9.2 — — (9.9
Cash (payments) receir — (6.0 — (2.5 11.C 2.5
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 1.7 $ 1k $ — $ 04 $ — $ 3.€
5. Statement of Cash Flows
Supplemental cash flow information is as follows:
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2013 2012 2011
Net change in current assets and liabilities, hecquisitions:
Receivable! $(32.9) $(57.0) $(28.1)
Inventories (28.5) 5.C 4.7
Other current asse (7.5) (0.8 (4.5
Trade payable 58.C 26.£ 27.4
Accrued liabilities, including payroll and benel 29.4 3.1 .7
Income taxes payab 1.4 (13.9) 2.7

$205  $(36.6 $ 0.5

6. Inventories

December 31 (dollars in millior 2013 2012

Finished products $ 88.¢ $ 74.4
Work in proces: 12.: 12.C
Raw materials 113.¢ 100.(
Inventories, at FIFO co: 214.5 186.2
LIFO reserve 21.: 23.C

$193.¢ $163.¢
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6. Inventories (continued)

The company recognized aftexx LIFO expense (income) of $0.1 million, $(1.1ijlion and $0.4 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, pestively.

7. Property, Plant and Equipment

December 31 (dollars in millior
Land

Buildings

Equipment

Software

Less accumulated depreciation and amortize

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

2013 2012
$ 11.: $ 11.€
212.% 194.:
497.¢ 455.¢
37.2 18.¢
758.¢ 680.¢
367.t 334.¢
$391.8 $345.7

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 coneistieel following:

(dollars in millions

Balance at December 31, 2011
Currency translation adjustme
Balance at December 31, 20
Acquisition of business (see Note
Currency translation adjustme
Balance at December 31, 20

The carrying amount of other intangible assets istexs of the following:

December 31 (dollars in millior
Amortizable intangible asse
Patents
Customer listt
Total amortizable intangible ass:
Indefinite-lived intangible asse
Trade name
Total intangible asse

North Americi Rest of Worl Total

$ 374.¢ $ 58.¢ $433.¢

1.E 0.1 1.€

376.¢ 59.C 435.¢

— 1.¢ 1.¢

(3.5 (0.3) (3.9)

$ 372.¢ $ 60.€ $433.5

2013 2012

Gross Gross

Carrying  Accumulater Carrying  Accumulater
Amount Amortizatior Net Amount Amortizatior Net
$ 68 $ (@47 $ 21 $ 68 $ (44 $ 24
232.1 (55.2) 177 231.C (41.2)  189.¢
239.F (59.9 179.6  237. (45.6)  192.:
145.2 — 145.2 146.F — 146.5
$384.7 $  (59.9 $324.¢ $384.° $  (45.6 $338.

Amortization expenses of other intangible assetldf4 million, $14.6 million, and $9.6 million weerecorded in 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. In the future, excluding the impaftaoy future acquisitions, the company expects éizaion expense of approximately $14.4
million annually and the intangible assets willdyaortized over a weighted average period of 15syear

As a result of the sale of EPC and change in managereporting, the company reconsidered its segnegorting in the fourth quarter of
2011. These changes did not have a significantétgahow the company evaluates goodwill or oth&arigible assets for impairment. The

company concluded that no goodwill impairment exdsat the time of the annual impairment tests whiehe performed in the fourth quarters

of 2013, 2012 and 2011. No impairments of otharigtble assets were recorded in 2013, 2012 and 2011
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9. Debt and Lease Commitments

December 31 (dollars in millior 2013 2012
Bank credit lines, average year-end interest m@it@s4% for 2013 and 3.8% for

2012 $ 3.€ $ 94
Revolving credit agreement borrowings, average-gearinterest rates of 1.3% for

2013 and 201. 80.C 115.(
Commercial paper, average year-end interest réte4 % for 2013 and 1.2% for

2012 48.¢ 39.:
Term notes with insurance companies, expiring t)no2018, average year-end

interest rates of 6.0% for 2013 and 2( 31.2 49.¢
Canadian term notes with insurance companies, iagginrough 2018, average

yearend interest rates of 5.3% for 2013 and 2 28.2 30.2

191.¢ 243.7

Less lon+term debt due within one ye 14.2 18.€
Long-term deb $177.5 $225.1

The company has a $400 million multi-year multivemcy revolving credit agreement with a group gh¢ibanks, which expires on
December 12, 2017. The facility has an accordiavipion which allows it to be increased up to $5ilion if certain conditions (including
lender approval) are satisfied. Borrowings underdbmpany’s bank credit lines and commercial paperowings are supported by the
revolving credit agreement. As a result of the loergn nature of this facility, the commercial paped credit line borrowings are classified as
long-term debt at December 31, 2013 and 2012 .sAdption, the company either maintains cash bataaceays fees for bank credit and
services.

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt within eatthe five years subsequent to December 31, 264 3safollows:

Years ending December 31 (dollars in millic Amount
2014 $ 14.2
2015 14.Z
2016 14.2
2017 140.¢
2018 8.4

Future minimum payments under non-cancelable opgriases relating mostly to office, manufacturamgl warehouse facilities total $27.9
million and are due as follows:

Years ending December 31 (dollars in millic Amouni
2014 $ 81
2015 5.2
2016 4.3
2017 3.2
2018 2.C
Thereaftel 5.1

Rent expense, including payments under operatagelk was $20.7 million, $18.3 million and $16.1liam in 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Interest paid by the company including discontinapdrations was $5.9 million, $9.4 million and $Lillion in 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The company capitalized interest agpeof $0.8 million in 2013.
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10. Stockholders’ Equity

The company’s authorized capital consists of timékon shares of Preferred Stock $1 par valueniiion shares of Class A Common Stock
$5 par value, and 120 million shares of CommonIS&icpar value. The Common Stock has equal dividigids with Class A Common Sto
and is entitled, as a class, to elect one-thintheBoard of Directors and has 1/10th vote peresbarall other matters. Class A Common Stock
is convertible to Common Stock on a one for onésbas

There were 85,792 shares during 2013, 1,191,70@sldarring 2012 and 461,914 shares during 201C|ass A Common Stock converted i
Common Stock. Regular dividends paid on the A. fitl$ Corporation Class A Common Stock and CommariSamounted to $0.46, $0.36
and $0.30 per share in 2013, 2012 and 2011, rasekyct

On December 14, 2007, the company'’s board of dire@pproved a stock repurchase program authorizagurchase of up to 3,000,000
shares (split adjusted) of the company’s commockstand in December 2010, the board of directdiied that authorization. In July 2013,
the board of directors approved an incremental @D shares to the existing discretionary sharerohase program resulting in aggregate
authority to repurchase up to 2,551,642 sharesetltihe share repurchase program, the company’s constock may be purchased through a
combination of a Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading @ad discretionary purchases in accordance withicgibe securities laws. The number of
shares purchased and the timing of the purchaseeyiend on a number of factors, including shaieeptrading volume and general market
conditions, as well as on working capital requiraisegeneral business conditions and other fadtarkiding alternative investment
opportunities. The stock repurchase authorizatiensin effective until terminated by the board mécdtors which may occur at any time,
subject to the parameters of any Rule 10b5-1 auiortmrading plan that the company may then haveffiect. In 2013, the company purchased
1,771,066 shares at a total cost of $73.7 millior2012, the company purchased 852,980 sharemtdlaost of $22.0 million. In 2011, the
company purchased 1,223,178 shares at a totab£$&8.5 million.

At December 31, 2013, a total of 65,190 and 4,@®ghares of Class A Common Stock and Common Stesgectively, were held as
treasury stock. At December 31, 2012, a total 0186 and 2,861,944 shares of Class A Common StodlCammon Stock, respectively, were
held as treasury stock.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millior 2013 2012
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments $ 19.¢ $ 19t
Unrealized net gain on cash flow derivative instemts less related income tax

provision of $0.6 in 2013 and $0.5 in 2C 1.C 0.7
Pension liability less related income tax benefi$579.2 in 2013 and $217.9 i

2012 (280.0) (340.9)

$(259.)  $(320.5)
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10. Stockholders’ Equity (continued)

Changes to accumulated other comprehensive loserhponent for the year ended December 31, 2018saf@lows:

(dollars in millions)

Unrealizec
Cumulative
Net Gain
Foreign (Loss) on
Currency Cash Flov Pensior
Translatior Derivative: Liability Total
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 19F $ 0.7 $(340.79) $(320.5
Other comprehensive earnings before reclassifica 04 1.€ 35.t 37.1
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgmstve loss
@) — (1.5 25.2 23.7
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 19.¢ $ 1.C $(280.0) $(259.))

@) Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgmslve loss:

Realized gains on derivatives reclassified to cbgroducts

sold (2.5
Tax provision 1.0
Reclassification net of te $ (@19
Amortization of pension item:

Actuarial losse! $ 4172
Prior year service co (09®
40.¢
Tax benefit (15.¢)
Reclassification net of te $ 25.2

(@ These accumulated other comprehensive loss comimaenincluded in the computation of net perigmiosion cost. See
Note 12- Pensions for additional detai

11. Stock Based Compensation

The company adopted the A. O. Smith Combined Ineer@ompensation Plan (the “plan”) effective Jagugr2007. The plan was reapproved
on April 16, 2012. The plan is a continuation o th. O. Smith Combined Executive Incentive Comp#asaPlan which was originally
approved by shareholders in 2002. The number aestavailable for granting of options or sharesuattDecember 31, 2013, was 2,754,331.

Total stock based compensation cost recognize@18,2012 and 2011 was $10.5 million, $6.8 milléord $5.7 million, respectively.

Stock options

The stock options granted in 2013, 2012 and 20¥# Haee year pro rata vesting from the dates arfitgiStock options are issued at exercise
prices equal to the fair value of Common Stocktendate of grant. For active employees, all optgnasited in 2013, 2012 and 2011 expire tel
years after date of grant. Stock option compensagoognized in 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $4.5 mijlk3.2 million and $2.8 millior
respectively. Included in the stock option expers®gnized in 2013, 2012 and 2011 is expense adsedavith the accelerated vesting of stocl
option awards for certain employees who eitheratieement eligible or become retirement eligiblgidg the vesting period.
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11. Stock Based Compensation (continued)

Changes in option shares, all of which are ComntookS were as follows:

(dollars in millions

Weighte-Avg. Aggregate
Per Shart Years Ended December Intrinsic Value

Exercise Pric 2013 2012 2011

Outstanding at beginning of year $ 16.72 1,530,73. 2,843,73 3,246,20:

Granted

201:—%$34.96 to $52.93 per sha 361,70(

2012—%$22.08 to $22.99 per sha 382,00(

2011—%$21.56 to $22.06 per sha 356,40(

Exercised

201:—%$8.20 to $22.99 per sha (446,74 $ 6.C

2012—%$8.21 to $21.56 per sha (1,686,83)) 18.4

2011—-%$7.99 to $13.97 per sha (728,167 7.7

Forfeited

201:—%$22.99 to $34.92 per sha (5,065

2012—$13.97 to $22.99 per sha (8,166

20131—-%$9.50 to $21.56 per sha (30,706

Outstanding at end of year

(201:—%8.20 to $38.94 per shar 22.3i 1,440,62. 1,530,73. 2,843,73

Exercisable at end of yeal 16.0¢ 740,91¢ 819,31. 1,979,86!

The aggregate intrinsic value for the outstanding) @xercisable options as of December 31, 20185s58million and $28.1 million,
respectively. The average remaining contractualftf outstanding and exercisable options is eights and seven years, respectively.

The following table summarizes weighted-averagermftion by range of exercise prices for stockapioutstanding and exercisable at

December 31, 2013:

Weighter-

Options Weighter- Options Weighter- Average

Qutstanding Average Exercisable Average Remaining

Range o December 3! Exercise December 3: Exercise Contractue
Exercise Price 2013 Price 2013 Price Life

$8.20 to $11.88 275,40( $ 10.12 275,40( $ 10.1Z 6 year:

$12.92 to $13.9 144,70( 13.8¢ 144,70( 13.8¢ 7 year

$21.56 to $38.9. 1,020,52. 26.8¢ 320,81¢ 22.1z2 9 year:

1,440,62. 740,91¢

The weighted-average fair value per option at #ite @f grant during 2013, 2012 and 2011, usindgilaek-Scholes option-pricing model, was
$12.57, $8.26 and $8.26, respectively. Assumptiogre as follows:

2013 2012 2011
Expected life (years) 6.1 6.2 6.4
Risk-free interest rat 2.C% 2.C% 3.6%
Dividend yield 1.1% 1.4% 1.2%
Expected volatility 38.4% 39.4% 38.4%

The expected life is based on historical exercedgalior and the projected exercises of unexerasmik options. The risk free interest rate is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effedhendate of grant for the respective expectedlifine option. The expected dividend yield is
based on the expected annual dividends dividetidgtant date market value of the compamgmmon stock. The expected volatility is be
on the historical volatility of the company’s commstock.
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11. Stock Based Compensation (continued)

Restricted stock and share ur

Participants may also be awarded shares of restragtbck or share units under the plan. The compeanyted 144,696, 167,860 and 151,250
share units under the plan in 2013, 2012 and 2@kpgectively. Compensation expense was recognaetly over the vesting period.

The share units were valued at $5.0 million, $3ilian and $3.3 million at the date of issuance013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and will
be recognized as compensation expense ratablytlwwénree-year vesting period. Compensation expeh$6.0 million, $3.6 million and $2.9
million was recognized in 2013, 2012 and 2011, eetpely. Included in share based compensatiorperse associated with the accelerated
vesting of share unit awards for certain employeles either are retirement eligible or become rateat eligible during the vesting period.

A summary of share unit activity under the plaassollows:

WeightedAverage

Number of Unit Grant Date Valu

Outstanding at January 1, 2013 469,01. $ 19.3i
Grantec 144,69:¢ 34.8i
Vested (157,73)) 13.97
Forfeited/cancelle: (9,940 27.3¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 446,03t 26.1¢

Total compensation expense for share units nategetgnized is $3.2 million at December 31, 2013 Weighted average period over which
the expense is expected to be recognized is 17hmont

12. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits

The company provides retirement benefits for a.ltmployees including benefits for employees ef¥jmusly owned businesses which were
earned up to the date of sale. The company alstwmafreign pension plans, neither of which is eneat to the company’s financial position.

The company has a defined contribution plan whiglcmes 100 percent of the first one percent ofrdmrtons made by participating
employees and matches 50 percent of the next éveept of employee contributions. The company hésodefined contribution plans for
certain hourly employees which provide for matchtognpany contributions.

The company also has a defined benefit plan farieal employees and its non-union hourly workfoine2009, the company announced U.S.
employees hired after January 1, 2010, will notipipate in the defined benefit plan, and benefidraals for the majority of current salaried
and hourly employees will stop at the end of 20ls change resulted in a plan curtailment andgeduhe plan’s liability by $12.3 million.
No curtailment gain was recognized because thectiuiuin liability was offset by existing unrecoged losses. Beginning in 2015,

additional company contribution will be made to tledined contribution plan in lieu of participationa defined benefit plan. The company
also has defined benefit and contribution planséstain union hourly employees.

The company has unfunded defined-benefit posteratint plans covering certain hourly and salariegleyees that provide medical and life
insurance benefits from retirement to age 65. @ehtaurly employees retiring after January 1, 199@, subject to a maximum annual benefit
and salaried employees hired after December 313,288 not eligible for post-retirement medical éfis.
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12. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (cdnued)

Obligations and Funded Status
Pension and Post-Retirement Disclosure Informatioynder ASC 715

The following tables present the changes in bepéfigations, plan assets and funded status foredtimpension and post-retirement plans an
the components of net periodic benefit costs.

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2013 2012 2013 2012
Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO) at December 31 $929.1 $978.7 N/A N/A
Change in projected benefit obligations (PBO
PBO at beginning of ye: $(987.7) $(906.5) $ (119 $ (12.9)
Service cos (9.0 (7.8 (0.7 (0.2
Interest cos (39.5) (43.6) (0.5 (0.5
Participant contribution — — (0.9 (0.3
Actuarial gain (loss) including assumption chan 39.€ (90.9) (0.9 1.1
Benefits paic 59.€ 60.5 1.7 1.1
PBO at end of yez $(937.0) $(987.7%) $ (109 $ (119
Change in Fair Value of Plan Asset
Plan assets at beginning of y $ 800.5 $ 768.¢ $ — $ —
Actual return on plan asse 80.¢ 91.2 — —
Contribution by the compar 0.€ 1.2 1.4 0.€
Participant contribution — — 0.2 0.2
Benefits paic (59.6) (60.5) (1.7) (1.0
Plan assets at end of ye $822.% $ 800.5 $ — $ —
Funded status $(114.7) $(187.2) $ (109 $ (119
Amount recognized in the balance shet
Current liabilities $ (7] $ — $ (0 $ (0.9
Non-current liabilities (107.6 (187.2) (10.0 (10.6)
Net pension liability at end of ye $(114.9*  $(187.9)* $ (109 $ (119
Amounts recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehense Loss Before

Tax

Net actuarial loss (gait $ 467.1 $ 567.¢ $ 29 $ (35
Prior service cos (7.2) (8.1) — —
Total recognized in accumulated other compreheries& $ 459.¢ $ 559.¢ $ 29 $ (35

* |n addition, the company has recorded a liabiidya foreign pension plan of $3.1 million and%illion at December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, and an accumulated other comprehemsss of $2.2 million and $2.3 million at DecemBé&r 2013 and 2012, respective
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12. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (cdnued)

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Net periodic benefit cost
Service cos $9C $ 7€ $ 91 $01 $01 $0.2
Interest cos 39.5 43.€ 442 0.5 0.5 0.7
Expected return on plan ass (61.7) (68.9) (70.€) — — —
Amortization of unrecognizel

Net actuarial los 42.C 32.1 24 4 (0.3 (0.9 (0.9

Prior service cos (0.9 (0.9 (0.9 — — —
Curtailment and other o-time charge: — — (1.3 — — (2.7)
Definec-benefit plan cos 27.¢ 13.¢ 4¢ $023 $02 $1.6
Various U.S. defined contribution plans ¢ 5.4 5.C 5.€

$33: $18.&f $10.&

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Projected Benefiibligation Recognized in
Other Comprehensive Loss

Net actuarial (gain) los $(58.7) $68.C $109.2 $0.23 $H1.1) $0.2
Amortization of net actuarial (loss) ge (42.0 (32.]) (24.9 0.3 04 0.4
Prior service cos — — 2.8

Amortization of prior service co: 0.¢ 0.€ 0.¢ — — (0.7)
Total recognized in other comprehensive | (99.9) 36.7 88.€ 0.€ (0.7) 0.5

Total Recognized in Net Periodic (Benefit) Cost an@ther Comprehensive Los¢ $(71.) $50.f $ 935 $0.¢ $(0.5) $(1.1)

The estimated net actuarial loss and prior semict for the pension plans that will be amortizexif accumulated other comprehensive loss
into net periodic benefit cost during 2014 are $38illion and $(1.0) million, respectively. The iesated net actuarial gain and prior year
service cost for the post-retirement benefit pliyas will be amortized from accumulated other coafgnsive loss into net periodic benefit cos
during 2013 are each less than $0.3 million. Asiiged under ASC 715, the amortization of any pservice cost is determined using a
straight-line amortization of the cost over therage remaining service period of employees expeocteeiceive benefits under the plan.

The 2013 and 2012 after tax adjustments for additioninimum pension liability resulted in other qumhensive (gain) loss of $(60.7) million
and $22.4 million, respectively.

* Includes $1.6 million of defined benefit plan exse and $0.9 million of defined contribution plaxpense that were included in earnings
from discontinued operations for 20:
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12. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (cdnued)

Assumptions

Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefigabibns at December 31 are as follows:

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit

2013 2012 2013 2012
Discount rate 4.85% 4.0%% 4.7(% 4.05%
Average salary increas 4.0(% 4.0(% 4.0(% 4.0(%

Actuarial assumptions used to determine net paribenefit cost for the year ended December 31sfellaws:

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit
Years ended December 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Discount rate 4.0% 49(% 535% 4.02% 49(% 5.3t%
Expected lon-term return on plan asse 8.0(% 8.5(% 8.7%% n/e n/e n/e
Rate of compensation incree 40% 4.0(% 4.00% 4.0% 4.0(% 4.0(%

In developing the expected long-term rate of reagsumption, the company evaluated its pensiorigolarget and actual asset allocation and
expected long-term rates of return of equity anadoiadices. The company also considered its pendams historical ten-year and 25-year
compounded annualized returns of 6.4 percent ahde¥cent, respectively.

Assumed health care cost trend rates

Assumed health care cost trend rates as of Decesibare as follows:

2013 2012
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 10.0(% 10.0(%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed tiinggthe ultimate trend rat 5.0(% 5.0(%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 201¢ 2017

A one-percentage-point change in the assumed heséhcost trend rates would not result in a maltéripact on the company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Plan Assets

The company’s pension plan weighted asset allatatis of December 31 by asset category are asvfollo

Asset Categol 2013 2012
Equity securities 53% 62%
Debt securitie: 34 33
Private equity 5 4
Real estat 7 —
Other 1 1

T Tooe
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Asset Categol
Short-term investments

Equity Securitie:
Common stock
Commingled equity fund
Fixed Income Securitie
U.S. Treasury securitie
Other fixed income securiti¢
Commingled fixed income func
Other types of investmen
Real estate func
Private equity
Total fair value of plan asset investme

Nonr-investment plan asse
Total plan assel

Asset Categol
Short-term investments

Equity Securities
Common stock
Commingled equity fund
Fixed Income Securitie
U.S. Treasury securitie
Government agency securiti
Other fixed income securitie
Commingled fixed income func
Other types of investmen
Private equity
Total fair value of plan asset investme

Nor-investment plan asse
Total plan assel

12. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (cdnued)

Total
$ 23.:

r

300.2
178.:

90.1
3.2
49.€
120.¢

53

December 31, 201

The following tables present the fair value measunet of the company’s plan assets as of Decemhe&3B and 2012 (dollars in millions):

Quoted Prices i
Active Markets fo

Identical Contrac

(Level 1)
$ 14
272.¢
136.2
$ 410.5

Significant Othe
Observable Inpu
(Level 2)
$ —

147.¢

75.C

71.¢

$ 294.;

December 31, 201

Significant Non-
observable Inpu

(Level 3)
$ 14.C
0.3
57.2
37.1
$ 109.Z

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets fo

Identical Contrac

(Level 1)
$ I
300.2
90.1
$ 390.1

Significant Othe
Observable Inpu
(Level 2)
$ -

178.:

3.2

49.:2

120.¢€

$ 351.

Significant Noi-
observable Inpu

(Level 3)
$ 23.5
0.3
34.4
$ 58.C



12. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (cdnued)

The following table presents a reconciliation af fair value measurements using significant unofadde inputs (Level 3) as of December 31,

2013 and 2012 (dollars in millions):

Other Fixet
Real Private
Short Tern Income Estate
Investment Securities Funds Equity Total
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 397 % 02 $— $34.7 $ 74.¢
Actual return (loss) on plan asse —
Relating to assets still held at the reporting — 0.1 — 0.3 0.4
Relating to assets sold during the pel — — — 3.8 3.€
Purchases, sales and settlem (16.4) — — (4.4) (20.9)
Balance at December 31, 20 23.c 0.3 — 34.4 58.C
Actual return (loss) on plan asse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting — — 1.€ 2.4 4.C
Relating to assets sold during the pel — — — 0.8 0.€
Purchases, sales and settlem (9.9 — 55.¢€ 0.1 46.4
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 14C $ 0.3 $57.z $37.7  $109.c

The company'’s investment policies employ an apgradgtereby a diversified blend of equity and bongestments is used to maximize the
long—term return of plan assets for a prudent lefeisk. Equity investments are diversified acrdesnestic and non—domestic stocks, as well
as growth, value, and small to large capitalizatiddond investments include corporate and goverhimsues, with short—, mid— and lorigrm
maturities, with a focus on investment grade whertlpased. The company’s target allocation to equayagers is between 50 to 55 percent
with the remainder allocated primarily to bonds argmall allocation to real estate, private equignagers and cash. Investment and market
risks are measured and monitored on an ongoing Basiugh regular investment portfolio reviews, @alriability measurements and periodic

asset/liability studies.
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12. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (cdnued)

The company’s actual asset allocations are iniitle target allocations. The company regularly ess its actual asset allocation and
periodically rebalances its investments to thedseg allocation when considered appropriate.

There was no company stock included in plan asdédd®cember 31, 2013.

Cash Flows
The company was not required to and did not malecantributions in 2013 and is not required to mala@ntribution in 2014.

Estimated Future Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect extgecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée fmaid:

Pos-retiremen

Years ending December 31 (dollars in millic Pension Benefi Benefits

2014 $ 66.7 $ 0.6
2015 60.C 0.6
2016 61.2 0.6
2017 60.2 0.€
2018 66.2 0.8
2019- 2023 306.7 3.7

13. Investment in Shares of RBC Common Stock

As discussed in Note 2, the company received ajpately 2.83 million shares of RBC common stoclpad of the proceeds of its sale of
EPC to RBC. One half of the company’s shares of RB@mon stock were classified as available for satirities and were recorded at fair
value with an unrealized aftéax gain of $1.2 million included in other comprabie earnings as of December 31, 2011. The comgataye(
into an equity collar contract for the remainingfludiits shares of RBC common stock which weressified as trading securities. Those share
were also recorded at fair value. See Note 1 fthéuw discussion regarding the equity collar. Dgr2®12, the company sold all of its shares of
RBC common stock for net proceeds of $187.6 milboman average price of $66.19 per share. Netgxgrins of $27.2 million were recorded
in other income-net in the consolidated statemé&paimings in 2012. The net pre-tax $27.2 milli@ingwas comprised of $43.2 million of
gains on the sale of the shares of RBC common stbhekecognition of a $1.9 million gain previouscognized in other comprehensive loss
at December 31, 2011 and the write off of $17.9iom) the value of the collar at December 31, 201e $187.6 million of net proceeds
received in 2012 were used to pay down debt.

14. Income Taxes
The components of the provision (benefit) for ineotaxes consisted of the following:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2013 2012 2011
Current:
Federa $53.¢ $51.5 $(28.0)
State 9.6 7.2 (5.2
Internationa 19.1 17.C 4.9
Deferred:
Federa (8.9 (3.9 63.2
State (0.5) 4.€ 11.¢€
Internationa (7.0 (5.9 3.4

$66.7 $71.2 $ 50.3
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14. Income Taxes (continued)

The provision for income taxes differs from the U&leral statutory rate due to the following items

Years ended December 2013 2012 2011
Provision at U.S. federal statutory rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State income and franchise taxes, net of federadfiic 2.t 3.3 3.2
International income tax rate different- China (8.1 (5.8 4.9
International income tax rate different- other 0.7 0.2 0.€
U.S. manufacturing crec (1.9 (2.1 —
Research tax credi (0.9 — (0.6)
State tax credit — — 2.3
Other 0.8 (0.2 0.1

28.2% 30.4% 31.1%

Components of earnings before income taxes wefalaws:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2013 2012 2011
uU.S. $151.¢ $158.¢ $117.¢
Internationa 84.5 75.2 43.7

$236.< $233.¢ $161.5

Total income taxes paid by the company includirsgaintinued operations amounted to $70.2 millio®3$%Q million, and $117.2 million in
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Included in the 2011 gain on sale of EPC was aitiaddl tax accrual due to the company’s assettian certain foreign earnings derived from
the sale of EPC were not considered permanenttyested by the company. In the fourth quarter 4f226he company recorded discontinued
operations expense of $6.4 million representingctiveection of an error primarily due to its cabtibn of taxes due upon repatriation of
undistributed foreign earnings. The correction wasmaterial to any previously reported financiefipd or to the year ended December 31,
2012 and as a result has been reported as thetonref an error in the year ended December 31220

As of December 31, 2013, the company has $53.1lomitlccrued for its estimate of the tax costs dunuepatriation of undistributed foreign
earnings it considers to be not permanently reiieeeAt December 31, 2013, the company had uniiggd foreign earnings of $699.6
million, of which $428.6 million are considered pemently reinvested. No. U.S. income tax provigioforeign withholding tax provisions
have been made on foreign earnings that remaingr@ntly reinvested. Determination of the amountroecognized deferred tax liability on
the undistributed earnings considered permaneaitywested is not practicable. In addition, no ps@mn or benefit for U.S. income taxes has

been made on foreign currency translation gailesses. As of December 31, 2013, $487.6 millionasth and cash equivalents were held by
our foreign subsidiaries.

The tax effects of temporary differences of asanttliabilities between income tax and financigloing are as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millior

2013 2012

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Employee benefits $ 66.¢ $ — $ 90.2 $ —
Product liability and warrantie 64.5 — 57.2 —
Inventories — 4.7 — 2.4
Accounts receivabl 11.1 — 11.2 —
Property, plant and equipme — 33.C — 35.7
Intangibles — 40.C — 32.¢
Environmental liabilities 3.2 — 3.2 —
Undistributed foreign earning — 56.¢ — 65.1
Tax loss and credit carryove 17.7 — 15.2 —
All other 2.4 — 1t —
Valuation allowanct (9.6) — (7.9 —

$156.1 $ 134.7 $171.8 $ 136.]
Net asse $ 22.C $ 35.2
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14. Income Taxes (continued)

These deferred tax assets and liabilities areifiled$n the balance sheet as current or long-teased on the balance sheet classification of th
related assets and liabilities as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millior 2013 2012

Current deferred income tax assets $40.1 $33.2
Long-term deferred income tax ass 2.¢ 8.3
Long-term deferred income tax liabilitie (21.0 (6.3
Net asse $22.C $35.2

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amaurittax loss carryovers, credit carryovers andatidn allowances is as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millior

Net Operating Losses and Tax Cre: Valuation Allowance:

2013 2012 2013 2012
Beginning balance $ 15.2 $ 17.C $ 74 $ 84
Additions 4.1 2.C 2.2 3.C
Reductions .7 (3.9 — (4.0
Ending balanci $ 17.7 $ 15.2 $ 9€ $ 74

The company has foreign net operating loss carmgomat expire in 2014 through 2020, a foreigndaedit carryover that expires in 2021, and
state and local net operating loss carryoversakpire between 2014 and 2030.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoeaininrecognized benefits is as follows:

(Dollars in millions 2013 2012
Balance at January 1 $1.3 $1.8
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei — (0.5
Balance at December : $1.3 $1.3

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits that,abgmized, would affect the effective tax rate isSh@illion. The company recognizes poter
interest and penalties related to unrecognizedé¢mefits as a component of income tax expense.eseBber 31, 2013 there was $0.2 million
of interest and penalties accrued. It is anticipaiere will be a $0.1 million decrease in theltataount of unrecognized tax benefits in the
12 months. The company’s U.S. federal income taxme for 2009-2013 are subject to audit. The cowips subject to state and local income
tax audits for tax years 2000-2013. The compamsylgect to non-U.S. income tax examinations fory@806-2013.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

The company is a potentially responsible partyitigial and administrative proceedings seekingéaart up sites which have been
environmentally impacted. In each case the compasyestablished reserves, insurance proceeds anpddential recovery from third parties.
The company believes any environmental claimsndgtlhave a material effect on its financial posita results of operations.
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15. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

The company is subject to various claims and penldiwsuits for product liability and other mattarssing out of the conduct of the
company’s business. With respect to product lighdiaims, the company has self-insured a portioitsgroduct liability loss exposure for
many years. The company has established resenieb ibelieves are adequate to cover incurredrdaior the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012, the company had $125 million of peddlability insurance for individual losses ina@ss of $7.5 million in 2013 and in excess
of $5.0 million in 2012. The company periodicalBeraluates its exposure on claims and lawsuitsraaies adjustments to its reserves as
appropriate. The company believes, based on cuktrentledge, consultation with counsel, adequaterwes and insurance coverage, that the
outcome of such claims and lawsuits will not haveaterial adverse effect on the company’s finanuislition, results of operations or cash
flows.

16. Operations by Segment

Prior to the sale of EPC, the company had ideutifieo segments, Water Products Company and EP@.résult of the sale of EPC and a
change in management reporting, the company redemsl its segment reporting in the fourth quart&®0d 1 and determined that it is
comprised of two reporting segments: North Ameand Rest of World. The Rest of World segment imprily comprised of China, Europe
and India. Both segments manufacture and markepamensive lines of residential gas, gas tankledsectric water heaters and commel
water heating equipment. Both segments primarityeséheir respective regions of the world. The Rakimerica segment also manufactures
and markets specialty commercial water heatingpenent, condensing and non-condensing boilers aterwgstem tanks. The Rest of World
segment also manufactures and markets water tragpreducts, primarily in Asia.

The accounting policies of the reportable segmargshe same as those described in the “Summaigoificant Accounting Policies”
outlined in Note 1. Operating earnings, definedh®/company as earnings before interest, taxegrgetorporate and corporate research and
development expenses, were used to measure tloemarfce of the segments.

Net Sales Earnings

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

North America $1,520.C $1,430.¢ $1,289.8 $211.¢ $199.6 $154.(
Rest of Worlc 668.( 542t 455.¢ 88.C 59.€ 42.7
Inter-segmen (34.2) (34.0 (34.6) — — (0.2)
Total segment- sales, operating earnin $2,153.¢ $1,939.. $1,710.f $299.¢ $259.. $196.t
Corporate expenst (57.¢) (16.9 (25.7)
Interest expens (5.7) (9.2 (9.3
Earnings before income tax 236.4 233.¢ 161.t
Provision for income taxe (66.7) (71.2) (50.9)
Earnings from continuing operatio $169.7 $162.¢ $111.C

In 2013, sales to the North America segment’s avgdst customers were $310.3 million and $240.8amivhich represented 14 percent and
11 percent of the company’s net sales, respectilel3012, sales to the North America segment’slargest customers were $284.0 million
and $194.8 million which represented 15 percenttangercent of the company’s net sales, respégtie2011, sales to the North America
segment’s two largest customers were $273.1 millioth $194.7 million which represent 16 percent Bhgercent of the company’s net sales,
respectively.
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16. Operations by Segment (continued)

Assets, depreciation and capital expenditures by gment

Capital

Depreciation and Expenditures

Total Assets Amortization (Years Ended (Years Ended

(December 31 December 31 December 31
(dollars in millions 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
North America $1,298.¢ $1,306.: $1,319.. $40.E $39.2 $33.¢ $38.C $24.7 $31.€
Rest of World 525.2 420.z 342.¢ 16.€ 142 12.4 59.C 40.5 20.5
Corporate 567.i 552.4 687.4 2.4 1.C 0.7 0.7 4.9 1.4
Total $2,391.F $2,278.f $2,349.C $59.7 $54.6 $47.C $97.7 $69.¢ $53.F

The majority of corporate assets consist of caabh) @quivalents, marketable securities and defaroetne taxes.

Net sales and long-lived assets by geographic loiceat

The following data by geographic area includessadts based on product shipment destination amdlilded assets based on physical local
Long-lived assets include net property, plant asui@ment and other long-term assets and long-lagsits of previously owned businesses.

Long-lived Assets Net Sales
(December 31 (Years Ended December &
(dollars in millions 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
United States $238.¢ $219.1 $218.. United State: $1,335.c  $1,241.( $1,094.
China 134.¢ 99.€ 70.7 China 581.( 461.2 382.2
Canade 4.7 20.4 20.¢ Canade 142.5 150.1 160.z
Other Foreigr 46.4 35.¢ 32.C  Other Foreigr 94.¢ 87.C 73.¢
Total $424.¢  $375.( $341.f6 Total $2,153.f $1,939.. $1,710.t
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17. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

(dollars in millions, except per share amot.

1st Quarte 2nd Quarte 3rd Quartel 4th Quartel
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Net sales $509.€ $468.¢ $549.1 $484.7 $536.2 $462.. $558.¢ $524.C
Gross profit 179.: 149.1 198.( 160.t 196.¢ 156.¢ 199.¢ 185.¢
Earnings (loss

Continuing operation 39.C 47.t 42.1 35.C 46.2 37.C 42.4 43.1

Discontinued operatior — — — — — — — (3.9

Net earning: $39.C $475 $421 $350 $462 $37.C $42<4£ $ 392
Basic earnings (loss) per shi

Continuing operation $04z $051 $04t $03t $05C $04C $04€ $0.47

Discontinued operatior — — — — — — — (0.05)

Net $04z $051 $04t $038 $05C $04C $04€ $ 042
Diluted earnings (loss) per she

Continuing operation $04z $051 $04t $03t $05C $04C $04€ $0.4¢

Discontinued operatior — — — — — — — (0.04)

Net $04z $051 $04t $038 $05C $04C $04€ $ 042
Common dividends declart $01C $00¢ $01z $0.08 $01z $01C $01z $ 0.1C

Net earnings per share are computed separatebafdr period, and therefore, the sum of such qiyper share amounts may differ from
total for the year.

ITEM 9 —CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A —CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, fesluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as such tedafised in Rules 13a-15(e) under the SecuritieshBRrge Act of 1934, as amended (“the
Exchange Act”) as of the end of the period covdrgthis report. Based on such evaluations, our f@Eiecutive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that, as of the end of queaiind our disclosure controls and procedures feetave in recording, processing,
summarizing, and reporting, on a timely basis, imfation required to be disclosed by us in the repthiat we file or submit under the
Exchange Act, and that information is accumulatedl @mmunicated to the Chief Executive Officer &idef Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely discussions regardieguired disclosure.

60



Management Report on Internal Control Over Financid Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rule 1345(f). Our management, with the participation of @hief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offic has evaluate
the effectiveness of our internal control over fio@l reporting based on the Internal Control-Inéégd Framework issued by the Committee o
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisg§i®82 framework). Based on this evaluation, ounaggment has concluded that, as of
December 31, 2013, our internal control over finaheporting was effective.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to risk that controls may become inadegbatause of changes in conditions, or tha
degree of compliance with the policies or procesunay deteriorate.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered pusaticounting firm, has audited our consolidatedrfaial statements and the effectivenes
internal controls over financial reporting as ofd@mber 31, 2013 as stated in their report whiéhdided herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There has not been any change in the companyaiteontrol over financial reporting during theayended December 31, 2013 that has
materially affected, or is reasonable likely to emilly affect, the company’s internal control o¥imancial reporting.

ITEM 9B - OTHER INFORMATION

None
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
A. O. Smith Corporation

We have audited A. O. Smith Corporation’s intew@itrol over financial reporting as of December 113, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued byG@oenmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TweadCommission (1992 framework)
(the COSO criteria). A. O. Smith Corporation’s ma@aent is responsible for maintaining effectiveinal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness offriatecontrol over financial reporting included lretaccompanying Management Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our r@sgibility is to express an opinion on the comparigternal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corax@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etnadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableamesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettfansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanveterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal coht@iver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, A. O. Smith Corporation maintain@dall material respects, effective internal cohtver financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of A. O. Smith Corporation as ofebexer 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consetlddatements of earnings,
comprehensive earnings, stockholders’ equity, @sth lows for each of the three years in the pesimtied December 31, 2013, and our repor
dated February 20, 2014 expressed an unqualifisdoopthereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 20, 2014
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PART IlI
ITEM 10 - DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information included under the headings “Etatf Directors” and “Board Committees” in our défive Proxy Statement for the 2014
Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed witlketBecurities and Exchange Commission under RegnladA within 120 days after the end
of the registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporatededie by reference. The information required regagdixecutive Officers of the company is
included in Part | of this Annual Report on FormK@nder the caption “Executive Officers of the Gmany.”

We have a separately designhated Audit Committeshach Gene C. Wulf, Gloster B. Current, Jr., Mark$mith and Idelle K. Wolf serve,
with Mr. Wulf, as Chairperson. All members are ipdedent under applicable SEC and New York Stockimnge rules; the Board of Direct
of the company has concluded that Ms. Wolf and\Mulf are “audit committee financial experts” in acdance with SEC rules.

We have adopted a Financial Code of Ethics apgkdabour principal executive officer, principahfincial officer and principal accounting
officer. As a best practice, this code has beenwred by all other company officers and key finahand accounting personnel as well. In
addition, we have adopted a general code of busitasduct for our directors, officers and all enyeles, which is known as the A. O. Smith
Guiding Principles. The Financial Code of Ethit® A. O. Smith Guiding Principles and other compaosporate governance matters are
available on our website at www.aosmith.cowe are not including the information containedoo website as a part, of or incorporating i
reference into, this Form 1K- We intend to disclose on this website any amesmdsito, or waivers from, the Financial Code ofiétor the A
O. Smith Guiding Principles that are required taliselosed pursuant to SEC rules. There have beevaivers of the Financial Code of Ethics
or the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles. Stockholderay obtain copies of any of these corporate g@rera documents free of charge by
writing to the Corporate Secretary at the addresthe cover page of this Form 10-K.

The information included under the heading “Commtawith Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchangg i our definitive Proxy Statement
for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (tdfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commissindar Regulation 14A within 120 days
after the end of the registrant’s fiscal yearnisorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information included under the headings “Exeeu€ompensation,” “Director CompensationRéport of the Personnel and Compens:
Committee” and “Compensation Committee Interloakd msider Participation” in the company’s definéiProxy Statement for the 2014
Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed witletBecurities and Exchange Commission under RegnladA within 120 days after the end
of the registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporateddie by reference.

ITEM 12 - SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information included under the headings “PpatiStockholders” and “Security Ownership of Dimstand Managemeniti our definitive
Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Bihadders (to be filed with the Securities and Exae@Commission under Regulation 14A
within 120 days after the end of the registrarissdl year) is incorporated herein by reference.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information about @guity compensation plans as of December 31, 2013.

Number of securities

be issued upon the
exercise of outstandil Weighte-average exercis
price of outstanding optior

options, warrants and

Number of securitie
remaining available fi

future issuance under

equity compensation
plans (excluding

securities reflected in

rights warrants and right the first column’

Plan Categol

Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holder:

Equity compensation
plans not approved by
security holder: — — —

Total 2,040,70: $ 22.31 2,754,33

2,040,700 $ 22.31@ 2,754,330

(1) Consists of 1,440,623 shares subject to stodbmgt446,036 shares subject to employee share amit 154,044 shares subject to
director share unit:

(@ Represents the weighted average exercise pricetsfamding options and does not take into accoutstanding share unit

() Represents securities remaining available for isseiainder the A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Corspgan Plan. If any awards lap
expire, terminate or are cancelled without issuarichares, or shares are forfeited under any auwlzed such shares will become
available for issuance under the A. O. Smith Comdilmcentive Compensation Plan, hereby increasieagitimber of securities
remaining available

ITEM 13 - CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIR ECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information included under the headings “Dioe¢hdependence and Financial Literacy”, “CompeansaCommittee Interlocks and Insider
Participation” and “Procedure for Review of RelaRatty Transactions” in our definitive Proxy Sta@hfor the 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (to be filed with the Securities axdliange Commission under Regulation 14A within da@s after the end of the registrant’s
fiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14 - PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information included under the heading “Repdthe Audit Committee” in our definitive Proxy $ment for the 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (to be filed with the Securities axdltange Commission under Regulation 14A within d29s after the end of the registrant’s
fiscal year) required by this Item 14 is incorpechherein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15 - EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(8) The following documents are filed as part of thisndal Report on Form -K:

1. Financial Statements of the Comp:

Form 1(-K
Page Numbt
The following consolidated financial statement#of. Smith Corporation are included in Itemr
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2QiL3Gk? 30
For each of the three years in the period ende@&mber 31, 201z
- Consolidated Statement of Earnit 31
- Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Eart 31
- Consolidated Statement of Cash Flc 32
- Consolidated Statement of Stockhol¢ Equity 33
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 34-60
2. Financial Statement Schedu
Schedule |- Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 69

Schedules not included have been omitted becaageatie not applicable.

3.  Exhibits - see the Index to Exhibits on pages 68 of this report. Each management contracbarpensatory plan or arrangement
required to be filed as an exhibit to this reportrmrm 1K are listed as Exhibits 10(a) through 10(m) in lidex to Exhibits

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14a-3(b)(1&eSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amengedyill, upon request and
upon payment of a reasonable fee not to exceedtbat which such copies are available from thmuffties and Exchange
Commission, furnish copies to our security holdsrany exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on behalf of the undersigned, thereunto dutiiorized.

A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

Date: February 20, 2014 By: /s/ Paul W. Jone
Paul W. Jone
Executive Chairman ¢
the Board of Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bakwf February 20, 2014 by the followi
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the dtipa and on the dates indicated.

Name and Titl¢ Signature

PAUL W. JONES /s/ Paul W. Jone
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors Paul W. Jone
AJITA G. RAJENDRA /s/ Ajita G. Rajendr:
Director Ajita G. Rajendre
President and Chief Executive Offic

JOHN J. KITA /s/ John J. Kit:
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office John J. Kite
DANIEL L. KEMPKEN /s/ Daniel L. Kempkel
Vice President and Controller Daniel L. Kempker
RONALD D. BROWN /s/ Ronald D. Browt
Director Ronald D. Browr
GLOSTER B. CURRENT, Jr. /s/ Gloster B. Current, J
Director Gloster B. Current, J
WILLIAM P. GREUBEL /s/ William P. Greube
Director William P. Greube
MATHIAS F. SANDOVAL /sl Mathias F. Sandov
Director Mathias F. Sandov:
BRUCE M. SMITH /s/ Bruce M. Smitt
Director Bruce M. Smittr
MARK D. SMITH /s/ Mark D. Smitt
Director Mark D. Smith
IDELLE K. WOLF /s/ Idelle K. Wolf
Director Idelle K. Wolf
GENE C. WULF /s/ Gene C. Wul
Director Gene C. Wul

66



INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Numbe

(3)(0)
(3)(ii)

(4)

(10)

(@)

(b)

(©)

Descriptior
Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioA.dd. Smith Corporation as amended through Apsil 2013

By-laws of A. O. Smith Corporation as amended Apti] 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit &he quarterly report
on Form 1-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2(

Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioA.dd. Smith Corporation as amended through Apfil 2013, filed as
Exhibit (3)(i) herewitf.

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated Bsacgmber 12, 2012, among A. O. Smith CorporatiarQ Amith
Enterprises Ltd., A. O. Smith International Holdng.V., and the financial institutions and ageragypthereto, incorporated
by reference to the current report on Foi-K dated December 12, 201

The corporation has instruments that define thietsiof holders of longerm debt that are not being filed with this Regiton
Statement in reliance upon Item 601(b)(4)(iii) efdRlation S-K. The Registrant agrees to furnistiméSecurities and
Exchange Commission, upon request, copies of thegements

Material Contract:

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)
()
(f)

(9)

A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Placgiporated by reference as Exhibit A to the PiStatement filed on
March 5, 2012 for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Staalklers.

A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Life InsurancarRlas amended January 1, 2009, incorporated érerafe to the annual
report on Form 1-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

A. O. Smith Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Pkdopted December 1, 2008, incorporated by referemthe annual
report on Form 1-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Supplemental RenPlan, as amended January 1, 2009, incorpobgteeference to the
annual report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Comit Award Agreement, incorporated by referenciéoForm S-8
Registration Statement filed by the corporationjoly 30, 2007 (Reg. No. 3-144950).

Offer Letter to Paul W. Jones, dated December 93 2iicorporated by reference to the annual repoform 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 20

Offer Letter to Ajita G. Rajendra, dated Septen&r2004, incorporated by reference to the anremnt on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS (continued)

Exhibit

Numbe

(21)
(23)
(31.1)
(31.2)

(32.1)
(32.2)
(101)

(h)
(i)
()
(k)

()

Descriptior
Amendment to Offer Letter to Ajita G. Rajendra Dhfeebruary 25, 2009, incorporated by referencbgannual report on

Form 1(-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Summary of Directors’ Compensation incorporatedédfgrence to the quarterly report on Form 10-Qtfierquarter ended
June 30, 201z

A. O. Smith Corporation Senior Leadership Severdtlaa, incorporated by Reference to the quartegprt for Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2C

Form of A. O. Smith Corporation Special Retentiomakd Agreement, incorporated by reference to ttertquy report on
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20

Stockholder Agreement dated as of December 9, 2ii/ieen A. O. Smith Corporation and each Smitlestment Company
stockholder who becomes a signatory thereto, ircmatpd by reference to the current report on Fotthdated December 9,
2008.

Subsidiaries
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer, puesu to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act, dated February 20, 20:

Certification by the Executive Vice-President arfdef Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
dated February 20, 201

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officersuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!
Written Statement of the Chief Financial Officer$uant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

The following materials from A. O. Smith Corporatis Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded December 31,
2013 are filed herewith, formatted in XBRL (ExteresBusiness Reporting Language): (i) the Consadi&alance Sheets as
of December 31, 2013 and 2012, (ii) the Consold&mtement of Earnings for the three years endsxibber 31, 2013, (iii)
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Easriorghe three years ended December 31, 2013th@onsolidated
Statement of Cash Flows for the three years ende@mber 31, 2013, (v) the Consolidated Stateme&tawfkholders’ Equity
for the three years ended December 31, 2013 apthé/iNotes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
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A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Descriptior
2013:

Valuation allowance for trade and notes receiv
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass
2012:

Valuation allowance for trade and notes receiv.

Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass
2011:

Valuation allowance for trade and notes receiv.

Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass

Provision based upon estimated collect

2 Uncollectible amounts/expenditures or adjustmeh&sged against the reser

(Dollars in millions)

Balance ¢
Charged t

Beginning
Costs and
of Year Expensed
$ 4.2 $ 0.2
7.4 2.2
$ 34 $ 1.€
8.4 3.C
$ 3E $ 0.8
1.¢€ 6.€

69

Acquisitior Balance ¢
of Deduction End of
Businesse 2 Year
$ — $ (1.6 $ 2¢
— — 9.€
$ — $ (0.8 $ 4.2
— (4.0) 7.4
$ 0.3 $ (1.2 $ 34
- (0.2) 8.4



Exhibit (3)(i)

AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

1. The name of the corporation is A. O. Smith Coagion (the “Corporation”). The date of filing dbioriginal Certificate of
Incorporation with the Secretary of State of that&of Delaware was July 9, 1986. The original nafrtbe corporation was AOSCO, INC.

2. This Amended and Restated Certificate of Incation amends and restates and integrates aneéfumthends the Restated Certificate
of Incorporation of the Corporation to read inétgirety as follows:

ARTICLE 1

The name of the corporation is “A. O. SMITH CORPOR@N.”

ARTICLE 2

The address of the corporation’s Registered Offidbe State of Delaware is The Prentice-Hall Coaion System, Inc., 2711
Centerville Road, Suite 400, City of Wilmington, @ay of New Castle. The name of its Registered Ageésuch address is The Prentice-Hall
Corporation System, Inc.

ARTICLE 3

The nature of the business or purposes to be ctetloc promoted are:

(A) (1) To manufacture, buy, sell, export, impantdagenerally deal in all kinds of manufactured prcid and materials therefor, and in
particular, steel and iron products and matertasdfor.

(2) To carry on the business of mining, millingncentrating, converting, smelting, treating, prémafor market, manufacturing,
buying, selling, exchanging and otherwise produeing dealing in gold, silver, copper, lead, zimash, iron, steel and all kinds of ores, metal
and minerals and the products and by-products afhiéféithout in any way limiting the foregoing toaseh for, prospect and explore for ores
and minerals and to locate mining claims, groundsdes in the United States of America or theestair territories thereof or in other count
and record the same pursuant to the mining lawiseo$aid United States or the states or territahieseof or other countries.

(3) To manufacture, buy, sell, lease and deal inhimery for mining and other uses and to buy oentlise acquire, apply for, sell,
deal in, trade and let to lease upon rents or ti@gahnd patents or patent rights on machinerys tmoequipment which may be used in mining
and to conduct a general mining and manufacturirginess



(4) In general, but in connection with the purposeisforth in this Article 3, to carry on any othersiness, whether manufacturing
or otherwise, and to have and exercise all the ppa@nferred by the laws of Delaware upon secuguarations.

(B) To apply for, obtain, register, purchase, leas@therwise acquire, and to hold, own, use, atpeand introduce, and to sell, assign or
otherwise dispose of letters patent, licensesetraks, trade names, and any and all inventionmowements and processes used in
connection with, or secured under letters patetit®@United States of America or of any other couat government and pending applications
therefor, including any interest therein, and tangdicenses in respect thereto, or otherwise thersame to the use and account of the
corporation.

(C) To acquire by purchase, lease or otherwisengpch terms and conditions and in such manndreasdard of directors of the
corporation shall determine or agree to, and teettient which the same may be allowed by the Dalavigeneral Corporation Law, all or any
part of the property, real and personal, tangibleangible, of any nature whatsoever, including good will, business and rights of all kinds,
or any other corporation or of any person, firmassociation, which may be useful or convenienh@éhusiness of the corporation, and to pay
for the same in cash, stocks, bonds or in otharritexs of this corporation, or partly in cash gradtly in such stocks, bonds or in other
securities, or in such other manner as may be dgaeel to hold, possess and improve such propgeatiesto conduct in any legal manner the
whole or any part of the business so acquiredtamptedge, mortgage, sell or otherwise disposé®same.

(D) To borrow money, and, from time to time, to raaliccept, endorse, execute and issue bonds, dedriromissory notes, bills of
exchange and other obligations of the corporatismfoneys borrowed or in payment for property aeglior for any of the other objects or
purposes of the corporation or its business, amqpasitted by law to secure the payment of any slstigations by mortgage, pledge, deed,
indenture, agreement or other instrument of tirshy other lien upon, assignment of or agreemenggard to, all or any part of the property,
rights, privileges or franchises of the corporatidmeresoever situated, whether now owned or heretaftbe acquired.

(E) To acquire by purchase, subscription or othsgwand to hold and own and to sell, assign, teapgfedge or otherwise dispose of the
stock, or certificates of interest in shares o€k$y bonds, debentures, obligations and other pe@eof indebtedness of any other corporation
domestic or foreign, and to issue in exchange thethe stock, bonds, or other obligations of tbeporation and while the owner of any such
stock, certificates of interest in shares of stdlqds, debentures, obligations and other evidesfdeslebtedness, to possess and exercise in
respect thereof all of the rights, powers and [@gas of ownership, including the right to voterdum, and also in the manner, and to the e
now or hereafter authorized or permitted by theslafithe State of Delaware, to purchase, acquive,and hold and to dispose of (except as
herein otherwise expressly provided) the stockdsar other evidences of indebtedness of the catipor; and to organize or cause to be
organized under the laws of any state or other igowent, corporations, companies, associationgstrpartnerships and other organizations
any lawful purpose, and to dissolve, liquidate,dvirp, reorganize, merge or consolidate the sansause the same to be dissolved, liquidated
wound up, reorganized, merged or consolidated.



(F) To the extent permitted by law, guarantee tignent of dividends on, or the payment or princgfadr interest on, any stocks, bon
notes, debentures, or other securities or obligataf any individual, corporation, company, asstaig trust, partnership or other organization
in which the corporation has an interest or anwlofse securities it owns; to the extent permittgtaly, to become surety for and to guarantee
the carrying out or performance of contracts ofrgwind and character of any individual, corporaticompany, association, trust, partnership
or other organization in which the corporation hasnterest or any of whose securities it owns;taraid in any lawful manner any individual,
corporation, company, association, trust, partriprshother organization in which the corporati@slan interest or any of whose securities it
owns.

(G) To execute and deliver general or special pswéattorney to individuals, corporations, comganassociations, trusts, partnerships
and other organizations, whether public or privatethe board of directors shall determine.

(H) In general to do any or all of the things hebaifore set forth, and such other things as aidental or conducive to the attainment of
the objects and purposes of the corporation, agipal, factor, agent, contractor or otherwiséhaitalone or in conjunction with any person,
firm, association or corporation, and in carryingits business and for the purpose of attaininfyidhering any of its objects to make and
perform contracts, and to do such acts and thindg@exercise any and all such powers to the stemt as a natural person might or could
lawfully do to the extent allowed by law.

(I) To have one or more offices and to carry orofisrations and transact its business within arldout the State of Delaware, and,
without restriction or limit as to amount, to puage or otherwise acquire, hold, own, mortgage, safivey or otherwise dispose of real and
personal property of every class and descripticaniyn of the states, districts, territories or dejgsties of the United States, and in any and al
foreign countries, subject always to the laws ahsstate, district, territory, dependency or fonedguntry.

The foregoing clauses shall each be construedthsinoposes and powers, and the matters expraessath clause shall, except as
otherwise expressly provided, be in no wise limigdeference to or inference from the terms of attner clause, but shall be regarded as
independent purposes and powers, and the enunredditspecific purposes and powers shall not betoaed to limit or restrict in any manner
the meaning of general terms or the general powfdise corporation; nor shall the expression of thrieg be deemed to exclude another,
although it be of like nature, not expressed.

ARTICLE 4

The aggregate number of shares which the corporatis the authority to issue shall be one hundhielytseven million
(137,000,000) shares, consisting of:

(@) fourteen million (14,000,000) shares designate” Class A Common Stoc” with a par value of Five Dollars ($5) per she
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(b)  one hundred twenty million (120,000,000) shatesignated as “Common Stock,” with a par valu®oé Dollar ($1) per
share; an

(c)  three million (3,000,000) shares designate”Preferred Stoc” with a par value of One Dollar ($1) per sh:

Any and all such shares of Class A Common Stockni@on Stock and Preferred Stock may be issued fdr sonsideration, not less
than the par value thereof, as shall be fixed ftione to time by the board of directors. Upon arstritbution of authorized but unissued shares
to stockholders, the part of the surplus of thgpomation (not less than the par value of such shavhich is concurrently transferred to stated
capital shall be deemed the consideration forghed of such shares. Any and all such sharessedisthe full consideration for which has
been paid, delivered or so transferred, shall leengel fully paid stock and shall not be liable tg &nther call or assessment thereon, and the
holders of such shares shall not be liable forfanyer payments except as otherwise provided Ipjiggble law of the State of Delaware or

any other state in which the corporation holdsréifamate of authority to do business. The relatiights, preferences and limitations of each
class shall be as follows:

(A) Class A Common Stock and Common Stock

Except as provided in this Article 4, the Class én@non Stock and the Common Stock shall have the sayhts and privileges and st
rank equally, share ratably and be identical inedpects as to all matters.

(1) Dividends; Combinations; and Subdivisions.

(&) The holders of the Class A Common Stock and i@omStock shall be entitled to receive, when andeatared by the
board of directors, such dividends including stdistributions (as defined in paragraph (A)(1)(§)neay be declared from time to
time by the board of directors subject to any latiins applicable by law of the State of Delaw#weahe rights of the holders of the
Preferred Stock, and to the following limitationh@hever a dividend which is not a share distrilsuigopaid to the holders of
Class A Common Stock, the corporation shall algotpahe holders of Common Stock a dividend pereslaaleast equal to the
dividend per share paid to the holders of the CAa€ommon Stock. The corporation may pay dividewtigch are not share

distributions to holders of Common Stock in exaafsdividends paid, or without paying dividends htmlders of Class A Common
Stock.

(b) If at any time a distribution is to be paidGtass A Common Stock or Common Stock (a “shareildigton”), such share
distribution may be declared and distributed orsfalows:

(i) Shares of one class of either the Class A ComB8tock or the Common Stock (the “first class”) nhaydistributed
on shares of that class, provided that there ikdet and paid a simultaneous distribution of shafeghe other class of sto
(the “second class”) to the holders of the secdasisovhich simultaneous distribution shall consfst number of shares of

the second class equal on a per share basis tuthieer of shares of the first class which are ithisted to holders of the fir
class.



(i) Subject to any limitations of the laws of tB¢ate of Delaware, shares of the first class magisteibuted on shares
of the second class, provided that there is detlanel paid a simultaneous distribution of shargbefirst class to holders
of shares of the first class which simultaneougiBistion shall consist of a number of shares effihst class equal on a per
share basis to the number of shares of the fiastsalvhich are distributed to holders of the seabeass.

(c) The corporation shall not combine or subdivdtiares of the first class without making a simwtars combination or
subdivision of shares of the second class whigyisal on a per share basis to the combinationlmtigigion of the shares of the
first class.

(2) Voting.
Voting power shall be divided between the Classofn@on Stock and the Common Stock as follows:

(a) With respect to the election of directors, leotdof the Common Stock, voting as a separate,dhafl be entitled to elect
that number of directors which constitutes 83 % of the authorized number of members of the bordirectors and, if such 3%
3% is not a whole number, then the holders of them@on Stock shall be entitled to elect to the nedrigdher whole number of
directors that is at least 38 3% of such membership. Holders of Class A CommowlSteoting as a separate class but subject to
any voting rights which may be granted to holddrBreferred Stock, shall be entitled to elect gmaining directors.

(b) The holders of Class A Common Stock shall i#led to vote as a separate class but subjeatytovating rights which
may be granted to holders of Preferred Stock, erréimoval with or without cause, of any direct@ogtd by the holders of Class A
Common Stock, and the holders of Common Stock sleadintitled to vote as a separate class on thevanwith or without cause,
of any director elected by the holders of Commartist

(c) In the discretion of the board of director$ afy vacancy in the office of a director electgdte holders of the Class A
Common Stock may be filled by a vote of such hadeoting as a separate class but subject to atiygviaghts which may be
granted to holders of Preferred Stock, and anyn@cin the office of a director elected by the leklof the Common Stock may
filled by a vote of such holders, voting as a sefEclass, or (ii) in the case of a vacancy indfiee of a director elected by either
class, such vacancy may be filled by the remaidingctors. Any director elected by the board oédiors to fill a vacancy shall
serve until the next Annual Meeting of



Stockholders and until his successor has beeredlectd has qualified. If permitted by the By-Lathg board of directors may

(i) increase the number of directors and any vacanacreated may be filled by the board of diregtor (i) decrease the number of
directors; provided that, so long as the holder@@hmon Stock had the rights provided in paragf@){2)(a) of this Article 4 in
respect of the last Annual Meeting of Stockhold#rs,board of directors may be so enlarged (orespecised) only to the extent 1
at least 33l/3% of the enlarged (or decreased) board consigigedtors elected by the holders of the CommoniStody

directors appointed to fill vacancies created ®ydbath, resignation or removal of directors etkbiethe holders of the Common
Stock.

(d) The Common Stock will not have the right toctldirectors set forth in paragraphs (A)(2)(a) &p(2)(c) of this Article 4
if, on the record date of any stockholder meetingtzch directors are to be elected, the numbéssafed and outstanding shares of
Common Stock is less than 10% of the aggregate aunflissued and outstanding shares of Class A Gamtock and Common
Stock. In such case, all directors to be electeielh meeting shall be elected by holders of Gda€®mmon Stock and Common
Stock, voting together as a single class but stibjegny voting rights which may be granted to keotdof Preferred Stock, provided
that with respect to said election, the holder€lass A Common Stock shall have one vote per siradéholders of Common Stock
shall have one-tenth vote per share. The ClassrAn@mn Stock will not have the right to elect direstset forth in paragraphs (A)
(2)(a) and (A)(2)(c) of this Article 4, if, on tlrecord date for any stockholder meeting at whichalors are to be elected, the
number of issued and outstanding shares of ClaSsrAmon Stock is less than 12.5% of the aggregateauof issued and
outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock and Gomtock. In such case, holders of Common Stoding@s a separate
class, shall have the right to elect 33 % of the members of the board of directors as piexbin paragraph (A)(2)(a) of this
Article 4, and holders of Class A Common Stock @athmon Stock voting together as a separate classubject to any voting
rights which may be granted to holders of PrefeBtmtk, shall be entitled to elect the remainingdiors, provided that with
respect to said election, the holders of Class Afon Stock shall have one vote per share and tldefsoof Common Stock shall
have one-tenth vote per share.

(e) Subject to the provisions of section (D) otAtrticle 4, the holders of Class A Common Stoct @mmon Stock shall in
all matters not specified in paragraphs (A)(2)(b), (c) and (d) of this Article 4 vote togetheraasingle class but subject to any
voting rights which may be granted to holders aféred Stock, provided that the holders of Clagdofnmon Stock shall have ¢
vote per share and the holders of Common Stock lshat one-tenth vote per share.

6



(f) Notwithstanding anything in this subsection (&)or in section (D) of this Article 4 to the coaty but subject to any
voting rights which may be granted to holders aférred Stock, the holders of Class A Common Sshel have exclusive voting
power on all matters, at any time when no CommaxiSis issued and outstanding, and the holdersoair@on Stock shall have
exclusive voting power on all matters at any tinteewno Class A Common Stock is issued and outstgndi

(3) Conversion.

(@) The holder of any shares of Class A Commonksabdis option will be entitled at any time to went each share of
Class A Common Stock into one share of Common Stsekh right shall be exercised by the surrendéhethares of Class A
Common Stock so to be converted to the corporai@my time during normal business hours at thieefir agency then
maintained by it for payment of dividends on tharsls of the Class A Common Stock and the Commork$toe “Payment
Office”), accompanied by written notice of suchdeil's election to convert and (if so required by tlorporation or any conversion
agent) by instruments of transfer, in form satifacto the corporation and to any conversion agdulyy executed by the registered
holder or by his duly authorized attorney.

(b) As promptly as practicable after the surrerfdeconversion of any shares of Class A CommonISitothe manner
provided in paragraph A(3)(a) of this Article 4etborporation will deliver or cause to be deliveagédhe Payment Office to or upon
the written order of the holder of such sharedjftztes representing the number of full share€ofmmon Stock issuable upon
such conversion, issued in such name or nameschdhsider may direct. Such conversion shall be déegkto have been made
immediately prior to the close of business on thee @f such surrender of the shares of Class A Gomfatock, and all rights of the
holder of such shares as a holder of such shaafiscslase at such time and the person or persomkase name or names the
certificates for shares of Common Stock are tosbaad shall be treated for all purposes as hawngrbe the record holder or
holders thereof at such time; provided, howeveat #my such surrender on any date when the staokfar books of the corporati
shall be closed shall constitute the person orgmsrgén whose name or names the certificates fdr shares of Common Stock ar
be issued as the record holder or holders theoedlf purposes immediately prior to the close w§ihess on the next succeeding
day on which such stock transfer books are opened.

(c) No adjustments in respect of dividends shalifaele upon the conversion of any shares of thes@aBommon Stock;
provided, however, that if shares of Class A Comi&tock shall be converted subsequent to the retamepreceding a dividend
payment on the Class A Common Stock but prior éopgayment date for such dividend, the registerdden@f such shares of
Class A Common Stock at the close of business olm secord date nonetheless shall be entitled wivecthe dividend paid on su
shares, if any, on such payment date notwithstaniti@ conversion thereof.
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(d) The corporation covenants that it will at aihés reserve and keep available, solely for thegse of issue upon
conversion of the shares of Class A Common Staat) sumber of shares of Common Stock as shalldvalide upon the
conversion of all such outstanding shares of Cda€ommon Stock, provided, that nothing containectimeshall be construed to
preclude the corporation from satisfying its obligas in respect of the conversion of the shareSlags A Common Stock by
delivery of shares of Common Stock which are helthe treasury of the corporation.

The corporation covenants that all shares of Com8tonk which shall be issued upon conversion oftiees of the Class A
Common Stock will upon issue be fully paid and re@sessable and not subject to any preemptive rigktspt as otherwise
required by applicable law.

(e) If the number of issued and outstanding shaff€ass A Common Stock is less than 2,397,976jéstibo adjustment for
any combination or consolidation of the Class A @mm Stock, by reclassification or otherwise, intgreater or lesser number of
shares of Class A Common Stock, or any dividendpleyin Class A Common Stock), then, in accordaritie and subject to
paragraph A(3)(g) of this Article 4, each shar&t#ss A Common Stock shall automatically be coraekihito one share of
Common Stock.

(f) If, after the Effective Time (as defined in tB6CO Merger Agreement), beneficial ownership airels of Class A Comm
Stock is transferred by any Existing Class A Holdgrether by sale, assignment, gift, bequest, app@nt or otherwise, to any
person other than a Permitted TransfereeNari-Permitted Transfer "), then, in accordance with and subject to paragrai@)(¢)
of this Article 4, each share of Class A Commorcktso transferred shall automatically be conveirtéal one share of Common
Stock. The following definitions shall apply to shparagraph A(3)(f):

(i) “Existing Class A Holder” shall mean any beneficial owner of shares of Cda€ommon Stock as of immediately
after the Effective Time, and any Permitted Traredeof such Existing Class A Holder to whom ClasS@mmon Stock has
been transferred in accordance with this paragfeh(f);

(ii) “Permitted Transferee” shall mean, with respect to any Existing Class Addn (A) any Related Party of such
Existing Class A Holder, (B) any Smith Family Mempand (C) any other person approved as a “Pemhilitansferee” by
the board of directors of the corporation;

(i) “Related Party” shall mean: (A) with respect to any Existing ClAddolder that is a natural person, the parents,
grandparents, siblings, spouses, ex-spouses aral(isatural or adoptive), spouses and ex-spoussesud (natural or
adoptive) and any trust for the benefit of,



the estate of or the legal representative of, drspch Existing Class A Holder or such personsyjoied, that any such trust
shall qualify as a Related Party notwithstandireg thremainder interest in such trust is for theefie of any other person),
any partnership the partners of which are suchtiBgi€lass A Holder or one or more of such persongny limited liability
company, corporation or other entity the ownerstiiprests of which are held by such Existing Ckgdolder or one or
more of such persons, and (B) with respect to adqstiag Class A Holder that is a trust, partnershimited liability
company, corporation or other entity, the benefiegof such trust and the partners, members, Bblakers or other equity
owners of such partnership, limited liability comgacorporation or other entity, and the Relatedi®sof such persons;

(iv) “Smith Family Member” shall mean any lineal descendant of Lloyd R. Smitlh such descendant’s parents,
grandparents, siblings, spouses, ex-spouses arel(isatural or adoptive), spouses and ex-spousssu# (natural or
adoptive) and any trust for the benefit of, thetsof or the legal representative of, any of quefsons (provided, that any
such trust shall qualify as a Smith Family Membetwithstanding that a remainder interest in suahttis for the benefit of
any other person), or any partnership the partfengich are one or more of such persons, or anitdd liability company,
corporation or other entity the ownership inter@$tahich are held by one or more of such persons;

(v) A “person” means any natural person, trust, limited liabititynpany, corporation or other entity; and

(vi) The“beneficial owner” of, and “beneficial ownership” of, any shares of Class A Common Stock shall be
determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 promutateder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, andet:

(9) In the event of any automatic conversion ofrsh@f Class A Common Stock pursuant to paragragB)e) or A(3)(f) of

this Article 4, certificates formerly representiogtstanding shares of Class A Common Stock sutjestich automatic conversion
will thereafter be deemed to represent a like nurbshares of Common Stock. Such automatic corueshall be deemed to he
been made immediately prior to the close of busimesthe date on which the event resulting in sutbhmatic conversion shall
have occurred, and all rights of the holder of sstthres of Class A Common Stock shall cease attsuetand such holders shall
be treated for all purposes as having become thiehor holders of the shares of Common Stock Islguapon such automatic
conversion. If an Existing Class A Holder inadvathg transfers shares of Class A Common StockNoa-Permitted Transfer, or
transfers shares of Class A Common Stock with tralfide belief that such transfer was not a Non-
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Permitted Transfer, such Existing Class A Holdedldiave the right to cure such N&ermitted Transfer within 30 calendar day
such person’s receipt of notice from the corporatbits determination that a Non-Permitted Trankfes occurred and, if such
Non-Permitted Transfer is cured within such 30-dasiod, the shares of Class A Common Stock shalldeened not to have been
automatically converted into Common Stock. The ocaifion may, as a condition to the transfer ordggstration of transfer of
shares of Class A Common Stock to a purported Readrlransferee, require the furnishing of suckdaffits or other proof as it
deems necessary to establish that such transteseBeérmitted Transferee. A good faith determinabip the board of directors that
a Class A Holder is not a Permitted Transfere¢hatr no right of cure is available or that suclitigf cure has lapsed, and that,
therefore, an automatic conversion shall have sedyshall be conclusive and binding on a Classokder. The corporation shall
note on the certificates representing the shar€@asfs A Common Stock that transfer by a Class Klétdo a person other than a
Permitted Transferee may result in the automatiwersion of such shares of Class A Common Stockyaunt to paragraphs A(3)
(e) or A(3)(f) of this Article 4.

(B) Preferred Stock
(1) Series of Preferred Stock

The board of directors shall have authority, byheatson or resolutions, to divide the Preferredcktmto series, to establish and
designate each such series and the number of gsharesf (which number, by like action of the boafdlirectors from time to time thereafter,
may be increased except when otherwise providatdypoard of directors in creating such seriesnay be decreased but not below the
number of shares thereof then outstanding), adetermine and fix the rights, preferences and éitinhs in respect of the shares of each seri
established prior to the issuance thereof, andelagive variations therein as between seriedyedtllest extent now or hereafter permitted by
applicable law of the State of Delaware, and (witHoniting the generality of the foregoing) pattiarly with respect to:

(a) The rate of dividend and the initial originssiie date or other date from which such dividehd8 be cumulative;
(b) The price or prices, at the period or periodthiw, and the terms and conditions on which sharag or shall be redeeme
(c) The amounts payable upon shares in the everdloftary liquidation or involuntary liquidation;

(d) The terms of the sinking fund provisions oraexbtion or purchase account, if any, for the redempr purchase of
shares;

(e) The terms and conditions on which shares mayohgerted into shares of Class A Common Stockani@on Stock, if
the shares of any series are issued with the ggeibf conversion; and
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(f) Whether or not shares shall have voting powans, the terms and conditions upon which any vatiogers may be
exercised; provided that, so long as any CommookSgooutstanding, no Preferred Stock with votilogvprs shall have more than
one vote per share nor shall any such Preferreck®t® entitled to vote with the Common Stock in¢hexction of 331/3% of the
members of the board of directors pursuant to papg(A)(2)(a) of this Article 4, on the removaldifectors elected by holders of
Common Stock pursuant to paragraph (A)(2)(b) of thiticle 4, or in the filling of vacancies in toéfice of a director elected by
holders of Common Stock pursuant to paragraph Jfd{df this Article 4.

Except as to the matters in respect to which variatare permitted under this subsection (B)(1)se&ties of the Preferred Stock of
the corporation, whenever designated and issuedl,tsive the same rights, preferences and limitatand shall rank equally, share ratably
be identical in all respects as to all matters.

All shares of any one series of Preferred Stockldished as hereinabove authorized shall be alilewéry particular, and each
series thereof shall be distinctively designatedeltegr or descriptive words or figures.

Any shares of Preferred Stock reacquired by thparation by purchase or redemption, through coiweysr through the operati
of any sinking fund or redemption or purchase aotand which are thereafter cancelled shall hagestatus of authorized but unissued share
of Preferred Stock of the corporation, and, sulliethe provisions of any series of the Preferregtl§ may thereafter be reissued as part of th
same series or may be reclassified and reissuélteldyoard of directors in the same manner as drer authorized but unissued shares of
Preferred Stock.

(2) Dividends.

Before any dividends, other than stock dividentig)ise paid or set apart for payment upon eitherGlass A Common Stock or
the Common Stock, the holders of Preferred Stoel ble entitled to receive dividends at the rateggeaum specified as to each series purs
to paragraph (B)(1)(a), payable quarter-annuallgmvand as declared by the board of directors.

Except as otherwise provided with respect to aqadar series pursuant to paragraph (B)(1)(a),ddimds shall accrue, in the case o
shares of each particular series:

(i) if issued prior to the record date for the ffidévidend on shares of such series, then frond#tie of initial original issue of
shares of such series;

(i) if issued during the period commencing immeeiy after the record date for a dividend on shafesich series and
terminating at the close of the payment date fohdlividend, then from such last mentioned dividpagment date; and
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(i) otherwise from the quarterly dividend paymeiate next preceding the date of original issusuch shares;

provided, that if the date of initial original issof shares of any series shall be within thir®) (@ays prior to the date when the first quarter-
annual dividend would otherwise be payable, thedoédirectors may provide that such first divideshall be payable only at the time of
payment of the dividend for the next quard@mnual period, in which case no deficiency in paynod such first dividend shall exist by reasol
such deferral.

All dividends of Preferred Stock shall be cumulatso that if the corporation shall not pay the tergr dividend, or any part
thereof, on the Preferred Stock then issued argtanding, such deficiency in the dividend on theféred Stock shall thereafter be fully paid,
but without interest, before any cash dividend Igbalpaid or set apart for payment on either thes€IA Common Stock or the Common Stock

Any dividend paid upon the Preferred Stock at aetimhen any accrued dividends for any prior perieddelinquent shall be
expressly declared as a dividend in whole or ggragment of the accrued dividend for the earlgsiod for which dividends are then
delinquent, and shall be so designated to eaclelsbigier to whom payment is made.

All shares of Preferred Stock shall rank equallgt ahall share ratably, in proportion to the ratéigfdend fixed pursuant to
paragraph (B)(1)(a) in respect to each such siragdl, dividends paid or set aside for paymentaoy dividend period or part thereof upon any
such shares.

(3) Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding Up.

In case of voluntary or involuntary liquidationsdolution or winding up of the corporation, thedesk of shares of each series of
Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive ouhefassets of the corporation in money or moneyth the applicable amount specified
pursuant to paragraph (B)(1)(c) with respect td sesies of Preferred Stock, together with all aedrbut unpaid dividends thereon (whether o
not earned or declared), before any of such ashatkbe paid or distributed to holders of Clas€@mmon Stock or Common Stock, and if the
assets of the corporation shall be insufficierpiag the holders of all of the Preferred Stock thetstanding the entire amounts to which they
may be entitled, the holders of each outstandingsef the Preferred Stock shall share ratabkuich assets in proportion to the amounts
which would be payable with respect to such sefiak amounts payable thereon were paid in fuleTconsolidating or merger of the
corporation with or into any other corporation ormorations, or the merger of any other corporationorporations into the corporation, in
pursuance of the laws of the State of Delawareddiaghy other applicable state providing for cordation or merger, shall not be deemed a
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affsiof the corporation within the meaning of thesfgoing provisions of this subsection (B)(3),
unless otherwise provided pursuant to paragrapfifi).
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(C) Preemptive Rights.

No holder of Preferred, Class A Common Stock or @mm Stock shall be entitled, as of right becaudgiobwnership of such stock, to
subscribe for, purchase or receive any part ofreawy or additional issue of stock, whether PrefeBaatk, Class A Common Stock or Comr
Stock, or of bonds, debentures or other secudtiesertible into stock, or any part of any reacgdishares or convertible securities held in
treasury, but all such shares of stock or bondsewkeires or other securities convertible into stoely be issued and disposed of by the board
of directors to such person or persons and on &rafs and for such consideration (so far as mayebmitted by law) as the board of directors
in its absolute discretion may deem advisable. @rogisions of this section (C) shall not impair amgnversion right of any such convertible
securities or any other right authorized by therbad directors to purchase or exchange, or toivecany distribution of, any securities of the
corporation.

(D) Special Voting Rights of Stockholders

(1) Subject to the voting rights of holders of reéd Stock as may be established pursuant to ctidos€B)(1) of this Article 4, the
holders of Class A Common Stock and the holde@arfimon Stock shall be entitled to vote, and to asteeparate classes, upon the
authorization of any amendment to this Certifiaafténcorporation, and, in addition to the authoti@a of any such amendment by vote of a
majority of the total number of votes representga@lboutstanding shares entitled to vote ther¢iomamendment shall be authorized by vol
a majority of the total number of votes represeigdll outstanding shares of the Class A CommaielSand/or the Common Stock if such
amendment contains any provision which would:

(a) exclude or limit their right to vote on any teait except as such right may be limited by votights given to new shares
then being authorized of any existing or new ctasseries,

(b) reduce the par value of their shares; or chdimgje shares into a different number of sharehefsame class or into the
same or a different number of shares of any omaeaye classes or any series thereof, either withithrout par value; or fix, change
or abolish the designation or any of the relatigats, preferences and limitations of their shaireduding any provision in respect
to any undeclared dividends, whether or not curiwgdair accrued, or the redemption of any shareangrsinking fund for the
redemption or purchase of their shares, or anynmpége right to acquire shares or other securiteslter the terms or conditions
upon which their shares are convertible or chahgeshares issuable upon conversion of their shifi@sy such action would
adversely affect such holders, or

(c) subordinate their rights, by authorizing shdraging preferences which would be in any respggésor to those rights.

(2) Any plan of merger or consolidation shall bepittd at a meeting of stockholders by a vote ofttwals of the total number of
votes represented by the outstanding shares drtitieote thereon. The holders of shares of a dassries shall be entitled to vote and to votc
as a class if the plan of merger or consolidatamta@ins any provision which, if contained in an ach@ent to the Certificate of Incorporation,
would entitle the holders of shares of such classedes to vote and vote as a class thereon ptrsuaubsection (D)(1) of
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this Article 4. In such case, in addition to théhamization of the plan of merger or consolidatinvote of two-thirds of the total number of
votes represented by all outstanding shares ahtitleote thereon, the plan of merger or consabdieshall be authorized by vote of the
majority of the total number of votes representgdlboutstanding shares entitled to vote therdory. plan of merger or consolidation of any
subsidiary corporation or corporations, whether dstic or foreign, with and into the corporationlshat be subject to the provisions of this
subsection (D)(2) if the corporation owns at ledsety percent of the outstanding shares of eaassaf capital stock of such subsidiary
corporation or corporations.

For the purposes of this subsection (D)(2), tharfaial or other effect of any merger or consoligatdn the corporation shall not be
deemed to affect adversely the powers, preferemceghts of any class or series of stock.

(3) Any sale, lease, exchange or other disposgfall or substantially all the assets of the cogpion, if not made in the usual or
regular course of the business actually conducgetid corporation shall be authorized by vote rmeting of stockholders of two-thirds of the
total number of votes represented by all outstapdhrares entitled to vote thereon.

(4) Any amendment to the Certificate of Incorpayatof the corporation which adds a provision speéuif that any stockholders, or
the holders of any specified number or proportibshares, or of any specified number or proportibehares of any class or series thereof,
may require the dissolution of the corporation dtev upon the occurrence of a specified eventwbrch changes or strikes out such a
provision, shall be authorized at a meeting ofldtotders by a vote of a majority of the total votepresented by all outstanding shares,
whether or not otherwise entitled to vote on armghsamendment.

(5) Any amendment to the Certificate of Incorparyatof the corporation which changes or strikesamyt provision specifying that
the proportion of shares, or the proportion of shaf any class or series thereof, the holdershidlwshall be present in person or by proxy at
any meeting of stockholders in order to constitutgiorum for transaction of any business or ofgrecified item of business, including
amendments to this Certificate of Incorporationlidh& greater than the proportion prescribed byilathe absence of such provision, or any
provision specifying that the proportion of votdgte holders of shares, or of the holders of shafeany class or series thereof, that shall be
necessary at any meeting of stockholders for @restiction of any business or of any specified wébusiness, including amendments to this
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, shall beatgethan such proportion prescribed by law inahgence of such provision, shall be
authorized at a meeting of stockholders by votevotthirds of the total number of votes represenigall outstanding shares entitled to vote
thereon.

ARTICLE 5

The duration of the corporation is to be perpetual.

ARTICLE 6

The number of directors of the corporation shalhbtless than five nor more than such number al$ Isé fixed by resolution of the
board of directors from time to time.
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ARTICLE 7

The board of directors shall have the following pesy in addition to those prescribed by law orhey By-Laws of the corporation;
(A) To make, alter, amend and repeal the By-Lawthefcorporation, to the extent permitted by thve ¢d Delaware.

(B) To elect or appoint from among their numbeiExecutive Committee, which committee, to the extart in the manner provided in
the By-Laws of the corporation, shall have and megrcise all the powers of the board of directoréhe management of the business and
affairs of the corporation, during the intervalévizeen the meetings of the board of directors, sagamay be permitted by law, and such other
standing committees as the board from time to timag determine to elect to appoint, which commitgesl have and may exercise such
powers as may be prescribed in the By-Laws or @¢degto them by the board.

(C) From time to time to determine, so far as p#adiby law, whether and to what extent, and attwilvee and places and under what
conditions and regulations the accounts and bobkseccorporation, or any of them, shall be opethtinspection of stockholders, and no
stockholder shall have any right to inspect anykbmoaccount or document of the corporation exesptonferred by the laws of the State of
Delaware or authorized by the board of directors.

(D) Subject to the provisions of the laws of that8tof Delaware to hold their meetings either withi without the State of Delaware, to
have one or more offices, and to keep the bookiseotorporation (except such books as are reqbiyddw to be kept at the office of the
corporation in the State of Delaware) outside ef$ttate of Delaware, and at such place or placesmgdrom time to time be designated by
them.

(E) To elect or appoint such officers, and to pdevihat the persons so elected or appointed stnadl &ind may exercise such powers as
may be prescribed from time to time by the By-Laf¢he corporation.

ARTICLE 8

The corporation reserves the right to amend, alteange or repeal any provision herein containethe manner now or hereafter
prescribed by law, and all rights conferred on Ishatders hereunder are granted subject to thisigioyu

ARTICLE 9

No director of the corporation shall be liable he torporation or its stockholders for monetary dges for breach of fiduciary duty as a
director, except for liability (i) for any breacl the director’s duty of loyalty to the corporationits stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions no
in good faith or which involve intentional miscoradwr a knowing violation of law, (iii) under Seati 174 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, or (iv) for any transaction fronmieh the director derived an improper personal fiene
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SUBSIDIARIES: The following lists all subsidiaries and affiliateEA. O. Smith Corporation.

Name of Subsidia

AOS Holding Company

A. O. Smith International Corporatic

Flame Guard Water Heaters, |i

Lochinvar, LLC

SICO Acquisition, LLC

Takag—A. O. Smith Tankless Water Heater Company L
American Water Heater Compa

State Industries, In

A. O. Smith Holdings (Barbados) SF

O. Smith Enterprises Lt

O. Smith (China) Investment Co., LI

O. Smith (China) Water Heater Co., L

0. Smith (China) Water Products Co., |

0. Smith (Shanghai) Water Treatment Products (d.
njing A. O. Smith Gas Appliance Co., L

. O. Smith ’eau chaude S.a.r

. O. Smith (Hong Kong) Limite:
. O.

a

—

Smith India Water Products Private Limi
O. Smith Electric Motors (Ireland) Lt
A. O. Smith Holdings (Ireland) Ltc
Productos de Agua, S. de R.L. de C
A.O. Smith Electrical Products B.
A.O. Smith Holdings Il B.V
A.O. Smith Holdings Il B.V.
A.O. Smith International Holdings B.\
A.O. Smith Products v.o.
A.O. Smith Water Products Company B
AO Smith Su Teknolojileri Anonim Sirke
A. O. Smith Water FZI
Lochinvar Limited

A
A
A
A
A
N
A
A
A
A

Exhibit 21

Jurisdiction in Which
Incorporatec

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Tennesse
Delaware
Delaware
Nevada
Tennesse
Barbados
Canad:e

China

China

China

China

China

France

Hong Kong
India

Ireland

Ireland

Mexico

The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
Turkey

United Arab Emirate
United Kingdom




Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-92329,92428, 333-144950 and 333-
170436) pertaining to the A. O. Smith Corporati@ng-Term Executive Incentive Compensation PlanAh®. Smith Combined Executive
Incentive Compensation Plan and the A. O. Smith Kined Incentive Compensation Plan and in the rélptespectuses of our reports dated
February 20, 2014, with respect to the consolidfitethcial statements and schedule of A. O. Smilp@Gration, and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of A. Smith Corporation, included in this Annual Repd&iim 10-K) for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 20, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Ajita G. Rajendra, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of A. O. Smith Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamntisother financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financiglating, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any changes in thestegmt's internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registre’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of director:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 20, 2014

/s/ Ajita G. Rajendra

Ajita G. Rajendra
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, John J. Kita, certify that;

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of A. O. Smith Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamntisother financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financiglating, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any changes in thestegmt's internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registre’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of director:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 20, 2014

/s/ John J. Kita

John J. Kita
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb&ndsy Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of A. O. Smitbrporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for thechl year ended December 31, 2013
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissinthe date hereof (the “Report”). I, Ajita G.j&alra, President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 I€S81350, as adopted pursuant to 8906 of the Sasiéaxley Act of 2002, that to the best
my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 20, 2014

/s/ Ajita G. Rajendra
Ajita G. Rajendra
President and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies this Report purstar@ection 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2082 shall not be deemed filed by the
Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Secariiechange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyll be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsidts staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb&ndsy Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of A. O. Smitbrporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for thechl year ended December 31, 2013
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissinthe date hereof (the “Report”). I, John JaKExecutive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuémtl8 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §9@t§eabarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to
the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 20, 2014

/s/ John J. Kita
John J. Kita
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

This certification accompanies this Report purstar@ection 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2082 shall not be deemed filed by the
Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Secarifiechange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyall be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsidts staff upon reques



